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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To t he Shareholders of First  Rock Capital Holdings Limited and it s subsidiaries

Report  on t he Audit  of the Consolidat ed Financial St atement s

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and
its subsidiar ies (“ the Group” ), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial posit ion as at
31 December 2021, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Report ing Standards
(“ IFRS” ).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit  in accordance with Internat ional Standards on Audit ing (“ ISAs” ). Our
responsibilit ies under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report . We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the Internat ional Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (“ IESBA”)
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (“ IESBA Code” ) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilit ies in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit  evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Mat ter
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on
11 May 2021.

Key Audit  Matters
Key audit  matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit  of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our descript ion of how our audit  addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilit ies described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relat ion to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit  included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit  procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit  opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To t he Members of First  Rock Capital Holdings Limit ed and it s subsidiaries (Cont inued)

Report  on t he Audit  of the Consolidat ed Financial St atement s (Cont inued)

Key Audit  Mat ters (cont inued)

Key audit  mat ters How our audit  addressed t he key audit  mat ters

Allowance for expected credit  losses

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
investments measured at amort ised cost
totalled $5.913 million. Overall, the above
exposure represents 13% of total assets in
aggregate. The impairment recorded under the
IFRS 9 expected credit  loss (ECL) impairment
model amounted to $0.977 million (Note 20).

Management ut ilised an expert to assist in
determining the ECLs.

IFRS 9 introduced an expected credit  loss
(“ECL” ) model to record allowances for debt
securit ies and other financial assets at
amort ized cost.

This is a key audit  matter as the est imation of
ECLs is inherently uncertain and requires the
applicat ion of judgment and use of subject ive
assumptions by management. Further, models
used to determine credit  impairment for
corporate and sovereign bonds could be
complex.

Under the general approach, judgment was
used in determining the criteria for significant
increases in credit risk, the probability of
default  (PD) and loss given default  (LGD).

As per of our audit procedures we have:

- placed reliance on the external consultant ’s
determination of ECL and therefore assessed
the external consultant ’s qualif icat ions (i.e.
professional cert ification, membership in an
appropriate professional body), experience
and reputation in the field.

- assessed the external consultant’s objectivity
and with the assistance of EY specialists,
evaluated the modelling techniques and
methodologies developed in order to
est imate ECLs, and assessed their
compliance with the requirements of IFRS 9
as well as with ISA 620 “Using the Work of an
Expert” ;

- tested the completeness and accuracy of

input data to the models used to determine

the ECLs. We assessed the reasonableness of

the methodologies and assumptions applied

in determining the 12 month and lifet ime

probabilities of default  (PD), loss given

default  (LGD), exposure at default  (EAD) and

staging, including considerat ion of the

impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

- assessed external source data and

assumptions, part icularly with respect to

forward looking information (FLI) by

referencing independent sources.

- assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To t he Members of First  Rock Capital Holdings Limit ed and it s subsidiaries (Cont inued)

Report  on t he Audit  of the Consolidat ed Financial St atement s (Cont inued)

Key Audit  Mat ters (cont inued)

Key audit  mat ters How our audit  addressed t he key audit mat ters

Valuat ion of invest ment  propert ies

As at 31 December 2021, investment
properties and investment propert ies held for
sale totalled $22.560 million or 50% of total
assets for the Group. The determinat ion of the
fair value of investment propert ies requires
significant judgement.

The Group’s investment propert ies are stated
at fair value based on the valuat ion carried out
by independent qualif ied valuers (the
“Valuers” ). The valuation was dependent on
certain key est imates which requires
significant  judgement, including capitalization
rates. Details of the valuation methodology and
key inputs used in the valuat ion are disclosed
in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As part of our audit procedures, we have:

- placed reliance on the Valuers property
valuation reports and evaluated the
competence, capabilit ies and object ivity of
the Valuers;

- assessed the appropriateness and
reasonableness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
est imates used in the valuat ions on a sample
basis, based on evidence of comparable
market transactions and other publicly
available information of the property
industry with the assistance of EY specialists
in accordance with ISA 620 “Using the Work
of an Expert” ; and

- assessed the completeness and consistency
of information provided by the Group to the
Valuers; and

- assessed the accuracy and completeness of
the disclosures presented in the consolidated
financial statements.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To t he Members of First  Rock Capital Holdings Limit ed and it s subsidiaries (Cont inued)

Report  on t he Audit  of the Consolidat ed Financial St atement s (Cont inued)

Other informat ion included in the Annual Report
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for
the other information. The Group’s annual report is expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor ’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit  of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identif ied above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our
knowledge obtained in the audit , or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilit ies of Management  and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparat ion of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to cont inue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operat ions, or has no realistic alternat ive but  to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit  of  the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that  an audit  conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect  a material
misstatement when it  exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To t he Members of First  Rock Capital Holdings Limit ed and it s subsidiaries (Cont inued)

Report  on t he Audit  of the Consolidat ed Financial St atement s (Cont inued)

Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit  of  the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont inued)
As part of an audit  in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit . We also:

 Identify and assess the r isks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit  procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit  evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detect ing a material misstatement result ing from fraud is higher than for one
result ing from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or  the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit  in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effect iveness of the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
est imates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that  may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to cont inue as a going
concern. If we conclude that  a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attent ion in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentat ion, st ructure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transact ions and events in a manner that presents a true and fair  view.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activit ies within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit . We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit  and significant audit  f indings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we ident ify during our audit .

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relat ionships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To t he Members of First  Rock Capital Holdings Limit ed and it s subsidiaries (Cont inued)

Report  on t he Audit  of the Consolidat ed Financial St atement s (Cont inued)

Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit  of  the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont inued)
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit  of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit mat ters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulat ion precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communicat ion.

The engagment partner on the audit  resulting in this independent auditor’s report  is Rishi
Ramkissoon.

Chartered Accountants
St Lucia

28 February 2022
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2021 2020
Notes $ $

Income
Rental income 6 380,686 431,172
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment properties 15 4,909,189 4,942,123
Loss on disposal of investment property (133,015) -

Property income 5,156,860 5,373,295

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost 7 361,156 1,344,886
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 7 183,524 25,129
Gain/(Loss) on sale of financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss 441,318 (133,810)
Net change in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through

profit or loss (238,088) 256,435
Loss on sale of financial instruments at amortised cost - (37,500)
Foreign exchange losses (358,581) (463,022)

Investment income 389,329 992,118
Interest expense 7 (279,110) (40,219)

Net investment income 110,219 951,899

Negative goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary 35 - 225,518
Other income 8 33,152 181,376

33,152 406,894

Net operating income 5,300,231 6,732,088

Expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense 10 18,099 120,716
Expected credit losses 9,10 367,736 701,862
Other operating expenses 10 2,855,927 3,239,703

Total expenses 3,241,762 4,062,281

Profit before taxation 2,058,469 2,669,807
Taxation 12 162,931 (65,170)

Net profit from continuing operations 2,221,400 2,604,637

Discontinued operations:
Profit from discontinued operations 13 803,072 -

Net profit 3,024,472 2,604,637
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
Year Ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2021 2020
$ $

Net profit is attributable to:
     Shareholders of the parent 2,995,684 2,659,089
     Non-controlling interest 28,788 (54,452)

3,024,472 2,604,637

Net profit 3,024,472 2,604,637
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
   Currency translation gains 2,152 82,628

Total comprehensive income for the period 3,026,624 2,687,265

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of the company 2,997,836 2,746,076

     Non-controlling interest 28,788 (58,811)

3,026,624 2,687,265

Basic and diluted earnings per stock unit for profit
   attributable to the equity holders of
   First Rock Capital Holdings Limited 31 0.01 0.01
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 February 2022

and are signed on its behalf by:

__________________________ _____________________
Michael Banbury Douglas Halsall

Note
2021

$
2020

$
Non-current assets
Investment in associate 14 1,746,429 -
Investment properties 15 20,572,185 19,560,912
Deferred tax assets 28 113,623 -
Development in progress 16 233,249 -
Property, plant and equipment 17 65,129 224,907
Intangible assets 18 - 341,395
Loans net of provisions for credit losses 19 - 213,418
Investments at amortised cost, net of provision for credit losses 20 4,492,256 2,929,029
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 20 476,775 1,259,258

 27,699,646 24,528,919

Current assets
Development in progress 16 12,304,169 -
Property acquisition deposits 21 24,957 1,598,524
Current portion of loans net of provisions for credit losses 19 - 1,852,233
Current portion of investments at amortised cost 20 1,421,249 5,016,048
Due from related parties 22 225,896 74,569
Other assets 23 730,677 490,925
Investment properties held for sale 15 1,988,000 760,000
Cash and cash equivalents 24 646,917 1,569,910

17,341,865 11,362,209
Total assets 45,041,511 35,891,128

Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the company
Share capital 25 27,738,654 27,738,654
Foreign currency translation reserve 44,250 42,098
Retained earnings 4,603,825 1,979,974

32,386,729 29,760,726
Non-controlling interest - 48,469
Total equity 32,386,729 29,809,195

Non-current liabilities
Corporate bond payable 26 4,450,088 -
Long term loan 27 3,001,057 -
Deferred tax liabilities 28 - 152,790
Lease liability 29 - 81,579

7,451,145 234,369
Current liabilities
Current tax liabilities 729 47,358
Due to related parties 22 - 380,970
Current portion of long-term loans 27 2,330,299 4,800,052
Current portion of lease liability 29 - 65,009
Other liabilities 30 2,872,609 554,175

5,203,637 5,847,564
Total liabilities 12,654,782 6,081,933
Total equity and liabilities 45,041,511 35,891,128
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Notes

Share
Capital

$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

$

Retained
Earnings

$
Total

$

Non-
Controlling

interest
$

     Total
Equity

$

Balance at 1 January 2020 15,472,346 (44,889) 493,588 15,921,045 - 15,921,045

Profit for the year - - 2,659,089 2,659,089 (54,452) 2,604,637

Other comprehensive income - 86,987 - 86,987 (4,359) 82,628

Total comprehensive income - 86,987 2,659,089 2,746,076 (58,811) 2,687,265

Non-controlling interest on acquisition of Dolla
Financial Services Limited - - - - 167,606 167,606

Transactions with owners:

-  Share issue 25  12,266,308 - -  12,266,308 -    12,266,308

-  Dividends 32 - - (1,172,703)  (1,172,703) (60,326) (1,233,029)

Balance at 31 December 2020 27,738,654 42,098  1,979,974 29,760,726 48,469 29,809,195

Profit for the year - - 2,995,684 2,995,684 28,788 3,024,472

Other comprehensive income - 2,152 - 2,152 - 2,152

Total comprehensive income - 2,152 2,995,684 2,997,836 28,788 3,026,624

Non-controlling interest on disposal of
Dolla Financial Services Limited - - - - (77,257) (77,257)

Transactions with owners:

-  Dividends paid 32 - - (371,833) (371,833) - (371,833)

Balance at 31 December 2021 27,738,654 44,250 4,603,825 32,386,729 - 32,386,729
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes 2021 2020
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit 3,024,472 2,604,637
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 20,770       81,626
Amortisation of intangible assets 18 13,023 39,090
Interest income from financial instruments at amortised cost   7 (361,156) (1,344,886)
Dividend income from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss   7 (183,524)      (25,129)
Interest expense   7 279,110        40,219
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (230)  463,022
Amortisation of loan costs 26 22,671 -
Negative goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary - (225,518)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary 13 (687,919) -
Loss on disposal of investment properties 133,015 -
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property 15 (4,909,189)   (4,942,123)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (23,693) -
Net change in fair value of financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss 238,088 (256,435)
Loss on sale of investments of financial instruments at amortised cost -     37,500
(Gain)/Loss on sale of investments of financial instruments at FVTPL (441,318)   133,810
Net impaired losses 9 367,736   701,862
Taxation (credit)/expense 12 (162,931)     65,170

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Related party balances (532,297) 519,217
Loans receivable 2,138,413  (488,431)
Other assets (239,752) 67,422
Other liabilities 1,061,664   (270,203)

(243,047)   (2,799,150)
Interest received 295,420 599,103
Interest paid (229,093) (19,398)
Taxation paid (24,529) (16,839)

Cash used in operating activities (201,249)  (2,236,284)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of associate (500,000) -
Dividend income 183,524 -
Interest received 376,589 420,409
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17 (66,262) (131,392)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 229,461    23,716
Acquisition of investment property 15 (8,611,757)   (5,000,000)
Proceeds from disposals of investment property 3,308,459       310,000
Property development costs (3,022,614) (1,014,804)
Property acquisition deposit 1,573,567      (276,903)
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary - (103,144)
Inflow of cash from disposal of subsidiary 750,000 -
Net disposal/(acquisition) of investments 1,157,290 (7,076,801)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,621,743) (12,848,919)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (715,063) (889,710)
Issue of shares, net of transaction costs 25 - 12,266,308
Corporate bond issued 26 4,371,835 -
Loans received 5,256,500 4,818,207
Loan principal repaid (4,733,169)   (206,100)
Lease principal payment -    (36,129)

Net cash provided by financing activities 4,180,103 15,952,576

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (642,889) 867,373
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents (280,104) (276,269)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,569,910 978,806

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period     24 646,917 1,569,910
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited (the company) is an International Business Company (IBC) duly incorporated
under the laws of Saint Lucia on 4 October 2017. The company commenced operations on 15 March 2019. The
registered office of the company is located at Bourbon House, Bourbon Street, Castries, Saint Lucia. Its main
operations, carried out by First Rock Capital Resource Limited (the management company), are located at Suite
6, 14 Canberra Crescent, Kingston 6, Jamaica.

The main activities of the company are holding investments and controlling the operations of its subsidiaries. The
company’s core focus is real estate acquisition and development for rental or resale and the acquisition of private
equity investments for income generation and asset appreciation. The company’s primary aim is to provide its
shareholders with a tax-efficient vehicle, offering an enhanced level of income, above average dividend yields and
preservation of capital through the diversification of assets.

The company’s subsidiaries and associate, which, together with the company are referred to as “the Group” are as
follows:

Subsidiaries Principal Activities Incorporated in

Proportion of Issued

Capital held by

the Group
Financial
Year End

First Rock USA, LLC Property Investment USA 100% 31 December

First Rock Capital LATAM,
Sociedad Anónima

Property Investment Costa Rica 100% 31 December

First Rock Capital Cayman Limited Property Investment Cayman 100% 31 December

FCH Jamaica Developers Limited Property Investment Jamaica 100% 31 December

FCH Jamaica Assets Limited Property Investment Jamaica 100% 31 December

Dolla Financial Services Limited Micro Financing Jamaica 75% 31 December

Associate

First Rock Global Holdings Limited
Small & Medium

Entities Investments
Barbados 15% 31 December

Except for Dolla Financial Services Limited which was disposed of on 31 March 2021 (Note 13) (2020: acquired
March 1, 2020 (Note 35)), FCH Jamaica Assets Ltd which was incorporated in November 2021 and First Rock
Global Holdings Limited which was acquired on 31 December 2021, the shareholdings for all subsidiaries are the
same this year, as they were at the end of the previous financial reporting period.

2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(a) Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and assets
held for sale which are measured at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

(b) Judgements

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management used certain critical accounting estimates.
Management also exercised its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Changes
in assumptions may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in the period the
assumptions changed.

Management believes the underlying assumptions are appropriate. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(c) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

(i) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective during the year

The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. These new standards and amendments applied for the
first time in 2021. The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment is described below.

 Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16
Leases. The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related
rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for
any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it
would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification.  The
amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application
is permitted. This amendment had no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an
interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The
amendments include a practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows
that are directly required by the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent
to a movement in a market rate of interest. Inherent in allowing the use of this practical expedient is
the requirement that the transition from an IBOR benchmark rate to an RFR takes place on an
economically equivalent basis with no value transfer having occurred. Any other changes made at
the same time, such as a change in the credit spread or maturity date, are assessed. If they are
substantial, the instrument is derecognized. If they are not substantial, the updated effective interest
rate (EIR) is used to recalculate the carrying amount of the financial instrument, with any modification
gain or loss recognized in profit or loss.  The practical expedient is required for entities applying IFRS
4 that are using the exemption from IFRS 9 (and, therefore, apply IAS 39) and for IFRS 16 Leases,
to lease modifications required by IBOR reform.
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First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(d) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(i) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective during the year
(continued)

 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16 (continued)

The amendments also include temporary relief from discontinuing hedging relationships and
temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR
instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component.

The amendments are mandatory, with earlier application permitted. Hedging relationships must be
reinstated if the hedging relationship was discontinued solely due to changes required by IBOR
reform and it would not have been discontinued if the phase two amendments had been applied at
that time. While application is retrospective, an entity is not required to restate prior periods.  These
amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

(ii) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date
of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these
new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

 Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3
In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the
Conceptual Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing
its requirements.

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of
potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the
scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separately.

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that
would not be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
apply prospectively.  The Group has not yet assessed the impact of these amendments on the
Group’s financial statements.

 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16
In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use,
which prohibits entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in
profit or loss.
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2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(e) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(ii) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16
(continued)

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
must be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on
or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

 Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amendments to IAS 37
In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include
when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making.  The amendments apply a “directly
related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include
both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
The Group will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.

 Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle (issued May 2020)
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an
amendment to:

-   IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.
The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based on the
parent’s date of transition to IFRS. This amendment is also applied to an associate or joint venture
that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1. The amendment is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments
are not applicable to the financial statements of the Group.

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities
The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.
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2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(e) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(ii) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

 Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle (issued May 2020) (continued)

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities
(continued)

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
with earlier adoption permitted. The Group will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that
are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendment.  The amendments are not expected to have a material impact
on the Group.

- IAS 41 Agriculture – Taxation in fair value measurements
The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 that entities exclude cash
flows for taxation when measuring the fair value of assets within the scope of IAS 41.  An entity
applies the amendment prospectively to fair value measurements on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted.
The amendments are not applicable to the financial statements of the Group.

 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new
accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation
and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was
issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance
and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees
and financial instruments with discretionary participation features.

A few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model
for insurance contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements
in IFRS 4, which are largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17
provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects.
The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:

� A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)
� A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative
figures required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15
on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Group.
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2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(e) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(ii) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

- What is meant by a right to defer settlement
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right
- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would

the terms of a liability not impact its classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and must be applied retrospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments
will have on current practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.

 Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8
In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a new definition of
‘accounting estimates’.

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amended standard clarifies that the effects on an accounting estimate of a change in an input
or a change in a measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors. The previous definition of a change in accounting estimate
specified that changes in accounting estimates may result from new information or new
developments. Therefore, such changes are not corrections of errors. This aspect of the definition
was retained by the IASB. The amendments are intended to provide preparers of financial
statements with greater clarity as to the definition of accounting estimates, particularly in terms of
the difference between accounting estimates and accounting policies. Although the amendments are
not expected to have a material impact on entities’ financial statements, they should provide helpful
guidance for entities in determining whether changes are to be treated as changes in estimates,
changes in policies, or errors.

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Management has not yet assessed the impact of these amendments on the financial statements of
the Group.
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2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(e) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(ii) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

 Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the PS), in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply
materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by:

� Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies, and

� Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures

In the absence of a definition of the term ‘significant’ in IFRS, the IASB decided to replace it with
‘material’ in the context of disclosing accounting policy information. ‘Material’ is a defined term in
IFRS and is widely understood by the users of financial statements, according to the IASB. In
assessing the materiality of accounting policy information, entities need to consider both the size of
the transactions, other events or conditions and the nature of them.

Although standardised information is less useful to users than entity-specific accounting policy
information, the IASB agreed that, in some circumstances, standardised accounting policy
information may be needed for users to understand other material information in the financial
statements. In those situations, standardised accounting policy information is material, and should
be disclosed.

The amendments to the PS also provide examples of situations when generic or standardised
information summarising or duplicating the requirements of IFRS may be considered material
accounting policy information.

The amendments may impact the accounting policy disclosures of entities. Determining whether
accounting policies are material or not requires use of judgement. Therefore, entities are encouraged
to revisit their accounting policy information disclosures to ensure consistency with the amended
standard.

Entities should carefully consider whether ‘standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the IFRS’ is material information and, if not, whether it
should be removed from the accounting policy disclosures to enhance the usefulness of the financial
statements.

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Management has not yet assessed the impact of these amendments on the financial statements of
the Group.
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2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(e) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(ii) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction- Amendments
to IAS 12
The amendments clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax purposes, it
is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such deductions are
attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognised in the financial statements (and interest
expense) or to the related asset component (and interest expense). This judgement is important in
determining whether any temporary differences exist on initial recognition of the asset and liability.

Under the amendments, the initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. It only applies if the
recognition of a lease asset and lease liability (or decommissioning liability and decommissioning
asset component) give rise to taxable and deductible temporary differences that are not equal.
Nevertheless, it is possible that the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities are not equal (e.g., if
the entity is unable to benefit from the tax deductions or if different tax rates apply to the taxable and
deductible temporary differences). In such cases, which the Board expects to occur infrequently, an
entity would need to account for the difference between the deferred tax asset and liability in profit or
loss.

An entity should apply the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, it should also recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated
with leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Management has not yet assessed the impact of these
amendments on the financial statements of the Group.

 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control
of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify
that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as
defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture, is recognized in full. Any
gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business,
however, is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint
venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity
that early adopts the amendments must apply them prospectively. The Group will apply these
amendments when they become effective but they are not expected to have an impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date control ceases. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributable to the owners of
the company and to the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-controlling interest having
a deficit balance. Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for
like transactions.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group (Note
3(b)).

(ii) Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

(b) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary comprises the:

�  fair values of the assets transferred;
�  fair value of liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;
�  fair value of equity interests issued by the Group;
�  fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and
�  fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity and acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquired entity over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase (negative goodwill).



Page 21

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Business combinations (continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier
under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial
liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value, with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains
or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns
revenues and incurs expenses, the operating results of which are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment. Operating segments are
reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker is the First Rock Capital Resource Limited.

(d) Revenue recognition

(i) Rental income
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.

Revenue comprises the invoiced value of rental and maintenance charges. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group provides
incentives to its tenants, the cost of the incentives is recognised over the lease term, on a straight line
basis as a reduction in rental income.

The Group assesses the individual elements of the lease agreements and assesses whether these
individual elements are separate performance obligations.

Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, and/or lease and non-lease
components, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation (lease and non-lease
component) based on the stand-alone selling prices. These selling prices are predominantly fixed
price per the agreements where the tenant pays the fixed amount based on a payment schedule.

Revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. The Group currently does
not have arrangements that include deferred payment terms. A receivable is recognised when services
are provided as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)  Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Rental income (continued)
In certain circumstances, the Group might agree to forgive some amount of payments contractually
due for past rent, without changing the scope of the lease or other terms (for example, if a lessee is
in financial difficulty). In such cases, the Group has elected to treat the reduction in payments due for
past rent as a partial extinguishment of the lease receivable. The amounts forgiven are recognised
as a loss (that is, not a reduction in lease income) in the income statement, with a corresponding
reduction to the lease receivable in the period in which the reduction is contractually agreed.

(ii) Land development and resale
The Group develops and sells residential and commercial properties. Revenue is recognised when
control over the property has been transferred to the customer. The properties have generally no
alternative use for the Group due to contractual restrictions. However, an enforceable right to payment
does not arise until legal title has passed to the customer. Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the legal title has passed to the customer.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. In most cases, the
consideration is due when legal title has been transferred. While deferred payment terms may be
agreed in rare circumstances, the deferral never exceeds 12 months. The transaction price is therefore
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest bearing
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate,
the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does
not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between the parties
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate transaction costs and other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets is credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss.

(iv) Dividend income
Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).
Dividends are recognized in the statement of financial position when the right to receive payment is
established.

(v) Fee and commission income - Fee and commission income are income recognised in profit or loss on
the accrual basis when the service has been provided.

Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a
third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (continued)

(vi) Financing components
The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

(e) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Group’s functional
currency. The Group has determined that the US dollar is its functional currency as its strategy is to
contract with multinational entities (mainly US based), at rates consistent with rates charged in the US
and therefore considers the US economy to the be primary economy to which it is exposed and the
economy that determines the pricing of its goods and services. The largest portion of the Group’s
revenues, expenses and cash flows are denominated in United States dollars.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated using the closing exchange rate. Exchange differences arising from the settlement of
transactions at rates different from those at the dates of the transactions and unrealised foreign
exchange differences on unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

 Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

 All resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any internal lending forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(f) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The Group capitalises borrowing costs on qualifying developments in progress.

(g) Leases

Group as a lessee

The Group leases various office spaces. The group acting as lessee, recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability for all leases with a term of more than 12 months (short term leases) or leases of low value
assets. Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. Lease payments
on short-term and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

� fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
� variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate

as at the commencement date;
� amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
� the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
� payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that

option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
� where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point

adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;
� uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk, which does not

have recent third-party financing; and
� makes adjustments specific to the lease with respect to term, country, currency and security.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities use that rate as a
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based
on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
� the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
� any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
� any initial direct costs; and
� restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of use
asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. Right of use assets are not revalued.

Group as a lessor

See Note 3(d)(i)).

(h) Management fees

Up to 30 September 2021, a management fee of two per cent (2%) of the net asset value of the Group based
on the Group’s audited financials will be paid quarterly to the Group’s management company First Rock
Capital Resource Limited.

Effective 1 October 2021 the management fee computation was amended to be 1.8% of the total asset value
of the Group based on the Group’s audited financials will be paid quarterly to the Group’s management
company First Rock Capital Resource Limited.

The fee is to be paid in arrears, based on the quarterly unaudited financial statements of the Group, subject
to the ‘claw-back’ provision.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(h) Management fees (continued)

Both the management fees and the performance-based dividend (Note 2(i)), are subject to a ‘clawback’ by
the Group if the audited annual financial results of the Group demonstrate a negative variance from the
quarterly unaudited accounts used to determine the payment of fees/dividends. The claw-back provision
requires a re-payment from First Rock Capital Resource Limited and, if such re-payment is not made, the
Group shall have a right of set-off of such surplus amount against any future cumulative annual preference
dividend that may be payable to First Rock Capital Resource Limited. If the audited annual financial results
demonstrate a positive variance from the quarterly unaudited accounts, such additional amount will be paid
to the management company (with no interest) so that it is made whole based on the audited results.

(i) Performance based fees

Up to 30 September 2021, a performance based cumulative annual dividend calculated as twenty-five per
cent (25%) of the audited annual total comprehensive income of the Group in excess of eight per cent (8%)
(the ‘hurdle’ rate) of the Group’s total equity.

Effective October 1, 2021, the performance based cumulative annual dividend calculation was amended to
twenty-five (25%) of the audited annual total comprehensive income of the Group once the eight and a half
per cent (8½%) (the ‘hurdle’ rate) of the Group’s total equity is achieved.

Dividends are to be paid quarterly in arrears, based on the quarterly unaudited financial statements of the
company, subject to the ‘claw-back’ provisions.

(j) Operating expenses

Expenses include legal, marketing, professional and other fees. They are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred on an accrual basis.

(k) Income taxes and deferred taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be recovered from or
paid to taxation authorities. The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position in the countries where
the Group operates. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the consolidated statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(k) Income taxes and deferred taxes (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting period date
and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future profits will allow the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in other comprehensive income or equity - in which case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or equity.

(l) Investment in Associate

The investment in associate is accounted for under the equity method.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but there is no control over those
policies.

Control is achieved when an entity is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, an entity
controls an investee if the entity has:

� Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee)

� Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
� The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When an entity has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the entity considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

� The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
� Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
� The entity’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(l) Investment in Associate (continued)

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount
of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since
the acquisition date.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations
of the associate. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its
share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of
the interest in the associate or joint venture. The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an
associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income outside operating
profit.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon
loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.  If there is such evidence, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as share of loss of an associate in the statement
of comprehensive income.

(m) Investment property

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by
the companies in the Group, is classified as investment property. Investment property also includes property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.

Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property, or for which the
market has become less active, continues to be measured at fair value.

Investment property under construction is measured at fair value if the fair value is considered to be reliably
determinable. Investment properties under construction for which the fair value cannot be determined reliably,
but for which the company expects the fair value of the property will be reliably determinable when
construction is completed, are measured at cost less impairment until the fair value becomes reliably
determinable or construction is completed - whichever is earlier.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(m) Investment property (continued)

It may sometimes be difficult to determine reliably the fair value of the investment property under construction.
In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an investment property under construction can be determined
reliably, management considers the following factors, among others:

 the provisions of the construction contract;
 the stage of completion;
 whether the project/property is standard (typical for the market) or non-standard;
 the level of reliability of cash inflows after completion;
 the development risk specific to the property;
 past experience with similar construction; and
 status of construction permits.

Fair value is based on active market prices for comparable sales, adjusted, if necessary, for differences in
the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses
alternative valuation methods, such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections or other cashflow models. These valuation models typically consider rental income from current
leases and other assumptions (such as vacancy, delinquency, market yields and capitalisation factors)
market participants would make when pricing the property under current market conditions.

Valuations are performed as at the financial position date by professional valuers who hold recognised and
relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location and category of the
investment property being valued. These valuations form the basis for the carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an
investment property is replaced, the cost of the replacement is included in the carrying amount of the
property, and the fair value is reassessed.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss. Investment properties are derecognised when they
have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from their disposal. Where the Group disposes of a property at fair value in an arm’s length
transaction, the carrying value immediately prior to the sale is adjusted to the transaction price, and the
adjustment is recorded in profit or loss within net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustment on investment
property.

If an investment property becomes owner occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment. Its
fair value as at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes. Where an
investment property undergoes a change in use, such as commencement of development with a view to sell,
the property is transferred to inventories. A property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting as inventories
is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(n) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. If such subsequent cost relates to a replaced part,
the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives at annual rates, as follows:

Billboards 8% - 10%
Leasehold improvements 25%- 33 1/3%
Furniture, fixtures & equipment 10%
Computer equipment 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of
financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from continued use of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of
comprehensive income.

(o) Intangible assets

(i) Trademarks and customer contracts
Separately acquired trademarks and customer contracts are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and
customer contracts acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. They are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses for
those with finite lives.

(ii) Software
Costs that are directly associated with acquiring software licences, which are expected to generate
economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. These assets
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. The assets are amortised
commencing on the date that they are put into use, using the straight-line method over their expected
useful lives, not exceeding a period of four years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software
programs are recognised as an expense, as incurred.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(o) Intangible assets (continued)

(ii) Software (continued)

The Group amortises intangible assets with a finite life, using the straight-line method over the following
periods:

Trademarks and licences 7 years
IT development and software 3-4 years
Customer relationships 1-7 years

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of
each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of
future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category
that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

(p) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a financial
liability or equity in another entity.

Financial assets

(i) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); and
- those to be measured at amortised cost.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i) Classification (continued)

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at FVPL, gains and losses will be recorded in profit or loss. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading, IFRS allows an irrevocable election at the time of
recognition, to classify as either FVPL or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The
Group makes an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for them at FVPL. The
Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Business model assessment
Business models are determined at the level which best reflects how the Group manages portfolios of
assets to achieve business objectives. Judgement is used in determining business models, which is
supported by relevant, objective evidence including:

 The nature of liabilities, if any, funding a portfolio of assets;
 The nature of the market of the assets in the country of origination of a portfolio of assets;
 How the Group intends to generate profits from holding a portfolio of assets; and
 The historical and future expectations of asset sales within a portfolio.

Solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest. In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related
financial assets are classified and measured at FVTPL.

(ii) Recognition
Financial assets are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are classified as and subsequently
measured either at amortised cost, at FVOCI or at FVTPL. Financial assets and liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instrument. Regular
way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost
The Group classifies its bank and deposit accounts, investments at amortised cost, loan receivables,
due from related parties and other assets. These are assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised in profit or loss
as part of interest income from financial assets at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
The carrying value of these financial assets at initial recognition includes any directly attributable
transactions costs.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost which is
assumed to approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these items. For the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise investment securities with
less than 90 days maturity from the date of acquisition, cash balances, short term deposits and
securities purchased under agreements to resell. Cash and cash equivalents exclude all qualifying
balances aforementioned, that are hypothecated or otherwise restricted, consequent on loan or other
similar arrangements.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial instruments are classified in this category if they meet one or more of the criteria set out
below and are so designated irrevocably at inception:
- the use of the designation removes or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch; and
- when a group of financial assets and liabilities or a group of financial liabilities is managed and its

performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. These fair value gains and
losses are recognised in net change in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as dividend income when the Group’s right
to receive payments is established.

Interest income and interest earned on assets measured at fair value through profit and loss is earned
based on the effective interest rate based on the carrying amount before allowances. For assets that
are credit-impaired when purchased or originated (purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI))), the
carrying amount after allowances for ECL is the basis for applying the effective interest rate.
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(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Impairment

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows. The ECL in relation to trade receivables is immaterial.

For investment and lending portfolios, the Group applies the general approach. Under the general
approach, expected credit losses are calculated by multiplying three main components, being the
probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and the exposure at default (“EAD”), discounted
at the original effective interest rate. Management has calculated these inputs based on the historical
experience of the portfolios adjusted for the current point in time.  A simplified approach to calculating
the ECL is applied to contract and other receivables which do not contain a significant financing
component. Generally, these receivables are due within 12 months unless there are extenuating
circumstances. Under this approach, an estimate is made of the life-time ECL on initial recognition (i.e.
Stage 3).  For ECL provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed on
the basis of shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous.
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(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

The PD, LGD and EAD models which support these determinations are reviewed regularly in light of
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience, but given that IFRS 9 requirements
have only just been applied, there has been little time available to make these comparisons. Therefore,
the underlying models and their calibration, including how they react to forward-looking economic
conditions remain subject to review and refinement. This is particularly relevant for lifetime PDs, and
for the incorporation of ‘downside scenarios’ which have not generally been subject to experience
gained through stress testing. The exercise of judgement in making estimations requires the use of
assumptions which are highly subjective and sensitive to the risk factors, in particular to changes in
economic and credit conditions across a number of geographical areas. Many of the factors have a
high degree of interdependency and there is no single factor to which loan impairment allowances as
a whole are sensitive. Therefore, sensitivity analyses are considered in relation factors to which the
ECLs are particularly sensitive and the results should not be further extrapolated.

The main difference between Stage 1 and Stage 2 expected credit losses is the respective PD horizon.
Stage 1 estimates will use a maximum of a 12-month PD while Stage 2 estimates will use a lifetime
PD. Stage 3 estimates will continue to leverage existing processes for estimating losses on impaired
loans, however, these processes will be updated to reflect the requirements of IFRS 9, including the
requirement to consider multiple forward-looking scenarios. An ECL estimate will be produced for each
individual exposure, including amounts which are subject to a more simplified model for estimating
expected credit losses.

The measurement of ECLs for each stage and the assessment of SICR must consider information
about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking information will
require significant judgment.

For defaulted financial assets, based on management’s assessment of the borrower, a specific
provision for ECLs which incorporates collateral recoveries, is calculated and recorded as the ECL.
The resulting ECL is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of expected
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Forward looking information
The estimation and application of forward-looking information require significant judgment. PD, LGD
and EAD inputs used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on
the macroeconomic variables (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely
correlated with credit losses in the relevant portfolio.

Each macroeconomic scenario used in the ECL calculation has forecasts of the relevant
macroeconomic variables – including, but not limited to, unemployment rates and gross domestic
product, interest rate and inflation, subsequently reverting to long-run averages. The estimation of
ECLs in Stage 1 and Stage 2 are a discounted probability-weighted estimate that considers a minimum
of three future macroeconomic scenarios. The base case scenario are based on macroeconomic
forecasts where available. Upside and downside scenarios are set relative to the base case scenario
based on reasonably possible alternative macroeconomic conditions.
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(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

Forward looking information (continued)
Scenario design, including the identification of additional downside scenarios that occur on at least an
annual basis and more frequently if conditions warrant. Scenarios are probability-weighted according
to management’s best estimate of the relative likelihood based on historical frequency and current
trends and conditions. The weightings assigned to each economic scenario as at December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020 were as follows:

Base Upside Downside
31 December 2020:
Investments portfolios 50% 20% 30%
Lending portfolios 50% 20% 30%
31 December 2021:
Investments portfolios 50% 30% 20%
Lending portfolios 50% 30% 20%

Financial assets measured at amortized cost recognize impairment gains and losses in profit or loss
in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest income, dividend income and gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are included on the face of the consolidated statement of changes
in income.

Debt investments and other instruments are considered to be in low credit risk when they have a low
risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term. The impairment charge for debt investments was assessed and is recorded in profit or loss.

Significant increase in credit risk
On initial recognition, the Group assesses the credit risk associated with each exposure as discussed
in Note 33(b).

To determine whether the life-time credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is available including information from
the past and forward-looking information. Factors such as whether payments of principal and interest
are in default, an adverse change in credit rating of the borrower and adverse changes in the
borrower’s industry and economic environment, or a change in the borrower’s employment
arrangements, payment method, industry or personal conditions are considered in determining
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the borrower.

For the Group’s debt instruments, a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) is where the prevailing
risk that the issuer of an investment instrument will default is materially greater than the risk at the
origination date of the investment instrument.
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(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
An investment is deemed to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk under the following
circumstances:

 When the credit rating of the instrument has slipped four or more levels on the international/internal
credit rating scale since the rating at origination date. Notwithstanding the slippage, the instrument
is deemed not to have experienced a SICR where the credit rating remains within the investment
grade of Baa3 or higher.

 The issuer of the instrument is experiencing or is very likely to experience one or more adversities
including but not limited to the following:

i.  Filing for bankruptcy
ii.  Loss of major asset
iii.  Major decline in industry
iv.  Depressed Debt Restructuring
v.  Unsustainable Debt Burden
vi.  Adverse Legal or Political Events
vii. Other Major Adversities

For the Group’s loans receivable, SICR is determined by observing the extent to which adverse
changes in one or more of the credit risk drivers could increase the likelihood of default since the origin
of the loan. A change in the borrower’s employment arrangements, payment method, industry or
personal conditions could be deemed significant enough to trigger a forward migration of loans to
Stage 2.

Default
Debt investments and other instruments are in default where the issuer of the instrument has failed
to honour part or all of the obligation under the investment agreement. Issuers that are assigned a
credit rating of C or Level 21 are deemed to be in a state of default.

The Group determines that loans are credit-impaired and in stage 3 by considering relevant objective
evidence, primarily whether: contractual payments of either principal or interest are past due for 90
days or more; there are other indications that the borrower is impaired, and the maturity date has
passed. If such unlikeliness to pay is not identified at an earlier stage, it is deemed to occur when an
exposure is 90 days past due.

Write-off
Financial assets (and the related impairment allowances) are normally written off, either partially or
in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where loans are secured, this is generally after
receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security. In circumstances where the net realisable
value of any collateral has been determined and there is no reasonable expectation of further
recovery, write-off may be earlier.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(v) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group’s statement of financial position) when:

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or;
 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, minus (in the case of a financial liability that is not at
FVPL) transaction costs that are directly attributable to issuing the financial liability. Financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost, unless the Group opted to measure a liability at FVPL.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise bonds payable, long term loans, lease liability, due to related parties
and other liabilities.

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(q) Investments and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Modification of loans
The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers
and debt instruments. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are
substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following
factors:

 If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flow
to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay;

 Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan;

 Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty;
 Significant change in the interest rate;
 Change in the currency the loan is denominated in; and
 Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk

associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a
new asset at fair value and recalculates the new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of negotiation
is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes and the
purpose of determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk. At this point the Group will
assess if the asset is POCI.

Deposits from tenants
Certain Group companies obtain deposits from tenants as a guarantee for returning the property at the end
of the lease term in a specified good condition or for the lease payments for a period ranging from 1 to 24
months. The Group has elected to treat such deposits as financial liabilities in accordance with IFRS 9, and
they are initially recognised at fair value. The difference between fair value and cash received is considered
to be part of the minimum lease payments received for the operating lease (refer to Note 3(d)) for the
recognition of rental income). The deposit is subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(r) Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Ordinary shares
are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs include legal fees, fees for arrangers, brokers, agents and investor
events relating to the initial public offering.

(s) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

(t) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved.

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Functional currency

The determination of the company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency is based on management’s
assessment of the primary economic environments to which the company and the subsidiaries are exposed.
According to IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (“IAS 21”), an entity’s functional
currency should reflect the underlying transactions, events and conditions that are relevant to the entity.
Management considered primary and secondary indicators in determining functional currency including the
currency that influences sales and expenses prices and rates. Although the company carries out a sizeable
portion of its activities in Jamaica, its revenue strategy is to target expatriates, US affiliated companies and
US tourists, and therefore transact in US dollars at rates that are consistent with rates charged in the United
States. The company has also raised financing primarily in US Dollars. From an expense perspective, the
indicators are mixed as services are in some instances provided by Jamaican companies, charging
Jamaican rates.  Based on these factors, management concluded that parent company’s functional currency
should be measured using United States dollars (“USD”).

(b) Investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent valuators. The valuators determine
fair value by using recent comparable sales or cash flow models. For comparable sales, adjustments are
made for the time of the referenced sale, size, location, condition etc. These adjustments involve significant
judgement, which could result in actual values being different from those realised from either sale, or the
present value of rental income received from the lease of these properties.
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b) Investment properties (continued)

For the cash flow models, a direct capitalisation approach is used. This approach involves determining a
net rental amount, a capitalisation factor (representing a market participant rate of return) and estimating
factors for vacancy and delinquency. The fair values derived may be very sensitive to these variables, in
particular, the capitalisation factor. As with the sales comparison approach, values realised through sale or
use may differ from the values estimated and recognised in the financial statements.

In assessing the valuation reports, management and its valuators have exercised judgement and have
assessed the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the values for comparable sales and the relevant
adjustments, as well as the various inputs into the direct capitalisation model. As the Group is diversified
geographically, the impact has not been consistent. Where required, adjustments have been made.

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current tax
and deferred tax provisions.

In recognising deferred taxation in relation to certain items of investment property, the Group has assumed
that there will be no capital gains tax on rental properties held for successive long-term rental periods. It
however assumes that for items which are currently investment property that will be developed for resale,
and will eventually become inventory, the revaluation gains previously recognised will be subject to taxation
at the time of sale. For investment property being developed, management recognises a deferred tax charge
on the basis of a ratio of units to be sold, to the total number of units being developed. Any change in
management's intention from rental to sale, would result in a recognition of an additional deferred tax liability.

(d) Equity Method accounting for which the Group holds less than 20%

The Group considers that it has significant influence over First Rock Global Holdings Limited even though it
owns less than 20% of the voting rights.  This is because the Group through its directors are the single largest
shareholders of the entity and the management company which directs its operations.

(e) Measurement of the Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets measured at amortised cost requires the use of models
and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour such as the likelihood of
customers defaulting and the resulting losses.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring
ECL, such as:

� Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
� Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; and
� Establishing appropriateness of forward-looking information.
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e) Measurement of the Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

Internal Credit Rating

Management has utilised an internal rating for their investments. The internal rating is assessed as follows:
� The most recent country’s credit rating obtained from an approved external credit rating agency is taken

as the Base Credit Rating (BCR);
� The credit rating for the relevant entity is the sum of the BCR and the Credit Rating Adjustment Factor

(CRAF);
� The CRAF is calculated as the aggregate of the factors such as the size of the institution, significance to

national interest, financial diversification and financial outlook; and
� An entity is assigned an adverse factor where enough information is not available to assign a favourable

score within the relevant categories.

These internal credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit rating companies, such as Standard and Poor
and Moody’s.

(f) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised at their fair value. The fair valuation is determined using discounted cash
flow projections based on significant unobservable inputs. These inputs include:

� The remaining economic lives of the cash flows used for each of the intangible assets valued using the
income approach;

� Discount rates reflecting current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of
cash flows; and

� Attrition Rate – of the existing customer base based on industry trends.

5. Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in accordance with the information analysed by the (the chief operating
decision-maker) of the Group, which is responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and
assesses its performance.

The Group has identified two reportable segments of its business:

(a) Real estate and financial investments; and
(b) Micro-financing - includes issuing loans to customers

The amounts provided to the Board in respect of total assets and total liabilities are measured in a manner
consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements. These assets and liabilities are allocated based on
the operations of the segment. As all assets and liabilities have been allocated to the operating (reportable)
segments, reconciliations of reportable segments’ assets to total assets, and of reportable segments’ liabilities
to total liabilities, are not presented.

The Group disposed of its Micro-financing segment on 31 March 2021 (Note 13).

The tables below show results and net assets by segment and geographical location.
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5. Segment Reporting

2021

Real Estate
and financial
investments

Micro-
financing Eliminations

Reclassified
to profit on

discontinued
operations Total

$ $ $ $ $

Rental income
   - Residential property 97,342 - - - 97,342
   - Commercial property 283,344 - - - 283,344
Fair value gains on investment
  property 4,945,490 - (36,301) - 4,909,189

Loss on disposal of investment
  property (133,015) - - - (133,015)

5,193,161 - (36,301) - 5,156,860

Interest income
  - Financial instruments 147,753 - - - 147,753
- Loans 334,637 363,715 (121,234) (363,715) 213,403

Dividend income 183,524 - - - 183,524
Other finance expense (157,502) - 2,151 - (155,351)

Financial related income 508,412 363,715 (119,083) (363,715) 389,329

Other income 33,152 70,085 - (70,085) 33,152

Operating income 5,734,725 433,800 (155,384) (433,800) 5,579,341
Interest expense and credit losses (522,056) (85,177) (124,790) 85,177 (646,846)
Expenses (2,886,574) (233,469) 12,548 233,469 (2,874,026)

Net profit before taxation 2,326,095 115,154 (267,626) (115,154) 2,058,469
Taxation 162,931 - - - 162,931

Net profit on continuing operations 2,489,026 115,154 (267,626) (115,154) 2,221,400
Profit on discontinued operations 600,000 - 87,918 115,154 803,072

3,089,026 115,154 (179,708) - 3,024,472

Total assets 52,267,799 - (7,226,288) - 45,041,511

Total liabilities 13,742,459 - (1,087,677) - 12,654,782
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5. Segment Reporting (Continued)

2020
Real Estate

and financial Micro-
investments financing Eliminations Total

$ $ $ $
Rental income

- Residential property 134,022 - - 134,022
- Commercial property 297,150 - - 297,150

Fair value gains on investment
  property 4,942,123 - - 4,942,123

5,373,295 - - 5,373,295
Interest income
  - Financial instruments 780,465 - (60,310) 720,155
  - Loans - 667,471 (42,740) 624,731
Dividend Income 324,503 - (299,374) 25,129
Other finance expense (297,596) (80,301) - (377,897)

Financial related income 807,372 587,170 (402,424) 992,118

Other income 245,650 161,244- - 406,894

Operating income 6,426,317 748,414 (402,424) 6,772,307
Interest expense and credit losses  (743,441)   (228,905)   230,265 (742,081)
Expenses (2,956,069) (404,350) - (3,360,419)

Operating profit 2,726,807 115,159  (172,159) 2,669,807
Taxation  (58,426)  (6,744)  -    (65,170)

Net profit 2,668,381 108,415 (172,159) 2,604,637

Total assets 39,497,360 2,331,933 (5,938,165) 35,891,128

Total liabilities  8,378,097  2,307,720 (4,603,884) 6,081,933
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5. Segment Reporting (Continued)

2021

Jamaica Costa Rica USA Cayman Eliminations Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Rental income
   - Residential property 8,575 78,267 - 10,500 - 97,342

- Commercial property 291,969 (8,625) - - - 283,344

300,544 69,642 - 10,500 - 380,686
Fair value gain on
investment property 4,770,046 (206,989) - 382,433 (36,301) 4,909,189
Loss on disposal of
  investment property (73,851) (37,837) (21,327) - - (133,015)

4,996,739 (175,184) (21,327) 392,933 (36,301) 5,156,860

Interest income 482,390 - - - (121,234) 361,156
Dividend income 183,524 - - - - 183,524
Other finance income/
  (expense) (164,169) 9,642 (11) (2,964) 2,151 (155,351)

Financial related income 501,745 9,642 (11) (2,964) (119,083) 389,329

Other income 33,152 - - - - 33,152

Operating income 5,531,636 (165,542) (21,338) 389,969 (155,384) 5,579,341

Depreciation and
amortisation (14,347) - - (3,752) - (18,099)

Interest expense (291,887) (51,641) (1,204) (55,612) 121,234 (279,110)
Expected credit losses (367,736) - - - - (367,736)
Expenses (2,645,384) (83,060) (77,199) (50,584) 300 (2,855,927)

Operating profit/(loss) 2,212,282 (300,243) (99,741) 280,021 (33,850) 2,058,469

Taxation 167,301 (4,370) - - - 162,931

Net profit/(loss) 2,379,583 (304,613) (99,741) 280,021 (33,850) 2,221,400
Profit from discontinued
  operations 600,000 - - - 203,072 803,072

Net profit/(loss) 2,979,583 (304,613) (99,741) 280,021 169,222 3,024,472

Total assets 46,855,993 1,680,895 2,211 3,728,700 (7,226,288) 45,041,511

Total liabilities 11,433,621 667,207 6,625 1,635,006 (1,087,677) 12,654,782

Investment property 15,902,037 1,067,546 - 3,500,000 102,602 20,572,185
Intangible assets - - - - - -
Assets held for sale 1,454,000 534,000 - - - 1,988,000
Property, plant and
 equipment purchases 3,751 - - 62,511 - 66,262
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5. Segment Reporting (Continued)

2020
Jamaica Costa Rica USA Cayman Eliminations Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Rental income
   - Residential property 25,353 45,774 62,895 - - 134,022

- Commercial property 218,207 78,943 - - - 297,150
243,560 124,717 62,895 - - 431,172

Fair value gain on
investment property 4,449,391 539,982 (47,250) - - 4,942,123

4,692,951 664,699 15,645 - - 5,373,295
Interest income 1,447,936 - - - (103,050) 1,344,886
Dividend income 25,129 - - - - 25,129
Other finance income/
(expense) (350,814) 500 - - (27,583) (377,897)
Financial related income 1,122,251 500 - - (130,633) 992,118
Fee and commission
  income 130,004 - - - - 130,004
Other income 245,650 - - - - 245,650
Operating income 6,190,856 665,199 15,645 - (130,633) 6,741,067

Depreciation and
 amortisation (76,983) (42,497) (1,236) - - (120,716)
Interest expense (208,079) (51,211) (11,194) - 230,265 (40,219)
Expected credit losses (701,862) - - - - (701,862)
Performance based fee (255,712) - - - - (255,712)
Expenses (2,795,932) (57,741) (83,198) (15,880) - (2,952,751)

Operating profit/(loss) 2,152,288 513,750 (79,983) (15,880) 99,632 2,669,807
Taxation  (48,781)  (16,389)  - - - (65,170)

Net profit/(loss) 2,103,507 497,361 (79,983) (15,880) 99,632 2,604,637

Total assets 38,181,305 2,193,302 884,977 569,709 (5,938,165) 35,891,128

Total liabilities 9,603,308 2,307,720 (601,798) (623,413) (4,603,884) 6,081,933

Investment property 16,437,654 2,260,508 862,750 - - 19,560,912
Intangible assets 341,395 - - - - 341,395
Assets held for sale 330,000 -   430,000 - - 760,000
Property, plant and
 equipment purchases 139,284 - - - - 139,284

6. Rental Income

  2021 2020
  $   $

Commercial property 283,344 297,150
Residential property 97,342 134,022

380,686 431,172
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6. Rental Income (Continued)

The Company is domiciled in St. Lucia but does not generate revenue there. The Group’s revenue is primarily
generated from property assets, which are held by Group companies domiciled in the country in which the
relevant asset is located.

Revenues are derived from a large number of tenants and no single tenant or group under common control
contributes more than 10% of the Group’s revenues. One tenant, located in domiciled in Jamaica, accounts for
more than 10% of the Group’s rental income.

There are no contract asset or contract liabilities in relation to the lease contracts.

Variable rents recognized as income totalled $9,647 (2020: $83,155).

The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2021 2020
$ $

No later than 1 year 648,618 284,420
Later than 1 year and no later than 2 years 526,468 271,704
Later than 2 years and no later than 3 years 480,395 233,554
Later than 3 years and no later than 4 years 249,055 214,091

7. Net Interest Income and Dividend Income

2021 2020
$ $

Interest income
Interest income from debt securities 147,753 720,669
Interest income from loans 213,403 624,217

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost 361,156  1,344,886
Income from financial assets at FVPL:
  Dividend income 183,524 25,129

544,680  1,370,015
Interest expense
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (279,110) (40,219)

Net interest income 265,570  1,329,796

8. Other Income

2021 2020
 $ $

Fee and commission income 9,459 161,244
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23,693 20,132

33,152 181,376
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9. Expected Credit Losses

2021 2020
 $ $

Investments at amortised cost 384,730 557,509
Loans at amortised cost (154,779) 144,353

229,951 701,862
Included in discontinued operations on disposal of subsidiary 137,785 -

367,736 701,862

10. Expenses by Nature
2021

$
2020

$
Other operating expenses:

Advertising and marketing 199,703 243,371

Agents’ commission expense 30,045 -

Auditors’ remuneration 151,348 85,860

Bank charges 13,318 17,624

Business development and meeting expenses 6,894 113,545

Direct property operating expenses (Note 15) 109,061 163,330

Directors’ fees and travel 115,169 93,656

Donations and subscriptions 80,390 146,675

Fee and commission expenses 2,793 31,240

First Rock Foundation expense 50,194 -

Insurance 50,890 69,526

Legal and professional fees 549,749 606,538

Office expenses 8,208 49,731

Other 222,457 16,967

Management fees 677,949 622,652

Rates and taxes 21,670 24,339

Registrar and regulatory fees 76,328 42,970

Repairs and maintenance costs - 1,118

Seminars 64,000 45,898

Software expenses 28,317 72,027

Staff costs (Note 11) 141,358 451,827

Travel and subsistence 115,742 66,489

Utilities - 18,608

Performance based fee 358,120 255,712

Balance c/f 3,073,703 3,239,703
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10. Expenses by Nature (Continued)
2021

$
2020

$

Balance b/f 3,073,703 3,239,703

Discontinued operations:
Expense related to Dolla Financial Services Limited reclassified
  to profit from discontinued operations (217,776) -

2,855,927 3,239,703

Depreciation and amortisation expense (Note 17 and Note 18) 18,099 120,716

Expected credit losses 367,736 701,862

3,241,762 4,062,281

11. Staff Costs
  2021 2020

  $ $

Salaries 127,849 407,132
Statutory payroll contributions 11,953 37,778
Other 1,556 6,917

(Note 10) 141,358 451,827

Staff costs relate to the remuneration paid to employees of Dolla Financial Services Limited. The remaining
subsidiaries utilise employees of First Rock Capital Resource Limited through their management agreement to
carry out their operations.

12. Taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions.

In recognising deferred taxation in relation to certain items of investment property, the Group has assumed that
there will be no capital gains tax on rental properties held for successive long term rental periods. It however
assumes, that for items which are currently investment property that will be developed for resale, and will
eventually become inventory, the revaluation gains previously recognised will be subject to taxation at the time
of sale. For investment property being developed, management recognises a deferred tax charge on the basis
of a ratio of units to be sold, to the total number of units being developed. Any change in management's intention
from rental to sale, would result in a recognition of an additional deferred tax liability. No deferred tax charge has
been recognised in respect of investment properties with undetermined use.

The Group
The tax liability presented represents the liability for First Rock Capital LATAM, Sociedad Anónima, FCH Jamaica
Developers Limited, FCH Jamaica Assets Limited and Dolla Financial Services Limited. There were no tax
expenses incurred by the other subsidiaries as they do not have taxable income for the period. A deferred tax
asset was recognised for the Company in relation to carried forward losses, as management believes that taxable
profits will be available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised.
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12. Taxation (Continued)

The Company
Up to 31 December 2020, the Company had elected to pay income tax of one per cent (1%) in Saint Lucia.
Pursuant to the provisions of Article 11 of the CARICOM Double Taxation Treaty, dividends/distributions paid to
Shareholders who were residents of CARICOM Member States would have been subject to withholding tax in
Saint Lucia, at a rate of one percent (1%), with no further taxation in the shareholder’s country of residence.
During the year, International Business Companies (IBCs) registered before 1 December 2018 are no longer
able to utilize preferential tax rates (tax-exempt or a 1% rate) and withholding tax exemptions. Effective 1 July
2021, all IBCs are subject to tax on income from sources in St. Lucia at the standard corporate tax rate of 30%.
Foreign-source income is not subject to tax in St. Lucia provided that the IBC satisfies the economic substance
criteria as set out in St. Lucia’s legislation for eligibility to be taxed on a territorial basis in St. Lucia. Expenses
incurred in connection with foreign-source income are not tax-deductible. Any such expenses paid to
nonresidents are not subject to withholding tax in St. Lucia. All domestic companies that are in good standing
with the Inland Revenue Department, including branches of non-resident companies, are subject to tax at a basic
rate of 30%. Companies that are not in good standing are subject to tax at a rate of 33.3%. Management is
currently processing the filings which are due by the 31 December 2022 to the tax authorities to meet the various
criteria of the revised legislation to satisfy the economic substance requirement.

First Rock Capital LATAM, Sociedad Anónima
This subsidiary is registered under the “Income from Real Estate” regime, rather than the ordinary regime. Under
the “Income from Real Estate” regime, tax is charged at a fixed rate of 15% (2020:12.75%) of the gross rental
income received, instead of a corporation tax of 30% payable on taxable income under the ordinary tax regime.

FCH Jamaica Developers Limited and FCH Jamaica Assets Limited
 Income tax is charged at a rate of 25% for unregulated entities.

(a) Composition of tax (credit) charge

The taxation (credit) charge for the year is comprised of:

2021 2020

$ $

Current tax 4,370 16,389

Deferred tax (166,657) 59,597

(162,287) 75,986

Prior year over accrual adjustment (Dolla) - (10,816)

Other adjustment (644) -
(162,931) 65,170

(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax charges to effective tax charge:
2021 2020

$ $
The Company:
St. Lucia tax considerations:
Profit before tax 848,570 2,999,921
Tax at Nil% (2020: 1%) - 29,999
Adjusted for the effects of:
Expenses not allowable for tax purposes - 11,614
Income not subject to tax - (54,123)
Other -        6,937

- (5,573)
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12. Taxation (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax charges to effective tax charge: (continued)

2021 2020
$ $

The Company:

Jamaica tax considerations:

Profit before tax 848,570 2,999,921

Tax at 25% 212,142 749,980
Adjusted for the effects of:

Expenses not allowable for tax purposes 183,488 139,364
Income not subject to tax (950,124) (791,074)
Variation in tax rate on dividend income - (20,171)
Other 392,963 (36,062)

(161,531) 42,037

First Rock Capital LATAM, Sociedad Anónima:
Rental income(net) 29,133 128,545

Tax at 15% (2020:12.75%) 4,370 16,389

Dolla Financial Services Limited:

Loss before tax - (196,541)

Tax at 25% - (49,135)
Adjusted for the effects of:

Expenses not allowable for tax purposes - 53,962
Employment and corporate tax credits - (12,173)

Prior year over accrual adjustment (Dolla) - (10,816)
Deferred tax asset on tax losses not recognized - 31,320
Other - (841)

- 12,317

FCH Jamaica Developers Limited:

Loss before tax (22,775) -

Tax at 25% (5,694) -
Adjusted for the effects of:

Income not subject to tax (79) -
Other 3 -

(5,770) -
FCH Jamaica Assets Limited:

Profit before tax 3,281,817 -

Tax at 25% 820,454 -
Adjusted for the effects of:

Expenses not allowable for tax purposes 49 -
Income not subject to tax (820,503) -

- -

Tax (credit)/expense (162,931) 65,170



Page 52

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13. Disposal of Subsidiary

Dolla Financial Services Limited
The Group entered into an agreement to dispose of its 75% stake in Dolla Financial Services Limited. The
transaction was finalized on 31 March 2021, for a consideration of US$1,100,000. Below is a summarized income
statement and balance sheet representing the net profit contribution for the financial year and the net assets
sold:

a) Income statement
$

Interest income 363,715
Other income 70,085

Total income 433,800
Interest expense (68,389)
Other operating expenses (250,258)

Net profit (Note 13(c)) 115,153

b) Statement of financial position
$

Cash & bank balances (21,589)
Loans receivable 2,221,565
Property, plant & equipment 213,743
Other assets 52,411

Total assets 2,466,130

Long term loans 682,221
Preference shares 1,272,684
Other liabilities 335,092

Total liabilities 2,289,997

Net assets 176,133

c) Profit from discontinued operations
$

Proceeds, net of transaction costs 1,100,000

Net assets (176,133)
Unamortised intangibles (328,372)
Other consolidated adjustments 92,724

Adjusted carrying value (412,081)

Gain on disposal of net assets 687,919
Net profit on operations (Note 13(a)) 115,153

803,072
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14. Investment in Associate

(a) Investment in First Rock Global Holdings Limited

This represents a direct holding of 16,615,079 shares or 15% shareholding in First Rock Global Holdings
Limited T/A First Rock Private Equity Limited (FRPE).

5,000,000 shares were acquired by way of private placement on 12 March 2021, at US$0.10 per share.
10,615,079 shares were acquired on 31 December 2021, by way of conversion of 1,230,314 units of
preference shares held in FRPE at US$0.108 per share. Prior to 31 December 2021, the preference shares
were held in Dolla Financial Services Limited. The remaining 1,000,000 units were acquired on 31 December
2021, by way of conversion of US$100,000 promissory note issued to FRPE in relation to the purchase of
Dolla Financial Services Ltd in March 2021 at US$0.10 per share. The remaining balance on the loan post
conversion is US$250,000 (Note 20).

The principal activities of FRPE are the provision of smart capital and business advisory services to small
and medium entities and financial service entities across the Caribbean and Latin America.

Management considers that the investment, despite representing less than 20% of the shareholding of FRPE,
meets the criteria of IAS 28 Investment in Associates due to the significant influence that the Group exercises
over the investee.

15. Investment Properties

2021 2020
$ $

The Group holds three classes of investment property:
Land 8,900,000  13,514,804
Commercial property 7,000,000 4,563,420
Residential property 4,672,185 1,482,688

20,572,185  19,560,912

2021 2020
$ $

Carrying amount of interest in associate

First Rock Global Holdings (Note 14(a)) 1,746,429 -
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15. Investment Properties (Continued)

Land
Commercial

Property
Residential

 Property
2021

$
2020

$

At 1 January 13,514,804 4,563,420 1,482,688 19,560,912 9,681,614

Acquisitions (Note 15(a)) 2,100,000 2,271,217 5,840,540 10,211,757 5,000,000

Development in progress - - - - 1,014,804

Disposals - (504,900) (2,176,574) (2,681,474) (310,000)
Reclassified to Development in
Progress (Note 16) (9,514,804) - - (9,514,804) -

Reclassified to investment
property held for sale (Note 15(f)) - (534,000) (1,454,000) (1,988,000) (760,000)

6,100,000 5,795,737 3,692,654 15,588,391 14,626,418

Net gain from fair value adjustment 2,800,000 1,204,263 904,926 4,909,189 4,942,123

Foreign exchange adjustment - - 74,605 74,605 (7,629)

Fair value as at 31 December 8,900,000 7,000,000 4,672,185 20,572,185 19,560,912

(a) Includes a land acquisition by way of transfer by natural love and affection for no consideration.  The Group
has recognised the asset at its fair value of US$1,600,000 and the corresponding credit as other payable. In
accordance with IAS 20, the income associated with the grant of the land will be recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grant is intended to compensate. (Note 30(b)).

(b) Amounts recognised in income statement for investment properties

2021
$

2020
$

Rental income 380,686 431,172

Direct costs (Note 10) (109,061) (163,330)

Fair value gains recognised in income 4,909,189 4,942,123

5,180,814 5,209,965
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15. Investment Properties (Continued)

(c) All properties were valued at current market value as at 31 December by independent qualified property
appraisers and valuators.

2021

Category
Valuation
technique

Observable
inputs

Unobservable
inputs

Capitalisation
factor (%)

Land
Sales
Comparison

Sales prices/per
acre,
comparable
address

Appreciation for
time and sale of
demand for
comparables N/A

Commercial property
Income
Approach

Rental rate,
property
expenses Capitalisation rate 6% - 10%

Residential property
Sales
Comparison

Sales prices per
square foot,
listings

Area, negotiation,
access, location,
topography and
view N/A

2020

Category
Valuation
technique

Observable
inputs

Unobservable
inputs

Capitalisation
factor (%)

Land
Sales
Comparison

Sales prices/per
acre,
comparable
address

Appreciation for
time and sale of
demand for
comparables N/A

Commercial property
Income
Approach

Rental rate,
property
expenses Capitalisation rate 6% - 10%

Residential property
Sales
Comparison

Sales prices per
square foot,
listings

Area, negotiation,
access, location,
topography and
view N/A

A ±10% change in the consideration of current values would result in the carrying value of investment
properties and investment properties held for sale and net profit increasing/decreasing by $2.256 million
(2020: $2.032 million)

The fair values of the investment property are at level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, as certain of the inputs
into the valuation process are deemed to be unobservable, as above.
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15. Investment Properties (Continued)

(c) Properties were valued at current market value as at 31 December by the following independent qualified
property appraisers and valuators:

2021
A.S James & Associates Limited (Jamaican properties)
Icicor (Costa Rican properties)
JEC Property Consultants (Cayman properties)

2020
A.S James & Associates Limited (Jamaican properties).
NAI Jamaica Langford and Brown (Jamaican properties ).
Constructora Costarricense S.A (Costa Rican properties).
Dade Real Estate Services, Corp. (United States properties).

(d) Leasing arrangements
Commercial and residential properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. Lease payments do not include variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate.

(e) Pledged as collateral for loans
Investment property has been pledged as collateral for loans as detailed in Note 27.

(f) Investment properties held-for-sale
At year end, properties with a carrying value of $1,988,000 were transferred to investment properties held-
for-sale based on management’s decision to dispose of these units. Management believes that sale of the
units will be realised within the next 12 months.
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16. Development in Progress

2021 2020
$ $

Land - Hambani Estates (Note 16(a)) 8,500,000 -

Development Costs:
-  Hambani Estates (Note 16(a)) 3,804,169 -
- Seaview Avenue (Note 16(b)) 233,249 -

12,537,418 -

Classified as:
Non-current 233,249 -
Current 12,304,169 -

12,537,418 -

(a) This represents a 3.43-acre parcel of land currently being developed as a luxury residential villa community
situated at lots 1, 1B and 3 Bamboo Avenue Kingston 6, St. Andrew. Construction commenced in March
2021 and is expected to be completed within the 3rd quarter of 2022.

Development in progress costs in relation to this property consist of pre-construction costs and hard
construction costs. It also consists directly attributable finance costs in the amount of US$123,728 (2020:
US$190,017) being capitalized in relation to the Sagicor Bank loan facility used to acquire the property.

(b) This represents a 1.57-acre parcel of land to be developed as a mid-market residential townhouse and
apartment community situated at lot 5 Seaview Avenue Kingston 6, St. Andrew. Construction is expected
to commence within the 3rd quarter of 2022.

Development in progress costs in relation to this property consist of pre-construction costs.
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment

Right
Furniture of-use

Fixtures & Computer Leasehold Work-in- Asset
Fittings Billboards Equipment Improvements Progress (Note 29) Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost -
1 January 2020 45,985 4,190 - 1,500 - - 51,675
On acquisition of subsidiary

(Note 35) 19,985 - 6,944 12,070 3,327 78,620 120,946
Foreign currency translation (715)  (498) 2,937 - -   11,986 13,710
Additions 1,201 - 3,702 6,199 - 120,290 131,392
Disposals  (11,364) - - - - -   (11,364)

As at 31 December 2020 55,092 3,692 13,583 19,769 3,327 210,896 306,359
Additions 55,978 - 10,284 - - - 66,262
Disposals (55,092) - (13,583) (19,769) (3,327) (210,896) (302,667)
Foreign currency translation - 498 - - - - 498

As at 31 December 2021 55,978 4,190 10,284 - - - 70,452

Accumulated Depreciation -
As at 1 January 2020 (910) (524) - - - -      (1,434)
Charge for the year (Note 10) (7,020) (496)  (3,223) (7,303) -  (63,584)    (81,626)
Relieved on disposal  1,608 - - - - -       1,608

As at 31 December 2020 (6,322) (1,020) (3,223) (7,303) - (63,584)    (81,452)
Charge for the year

(Notes 10, 17 (a)) (4,526) (551) (2,023) (1,756) - (11,914) (20,770)
Relieved on disposal 7,954 - 4,388 9,059 - 75,498 96,899

As at 31 December 2021 (2,894) (1,571) (858) - - - (5,323)

Net Book Value -
As at 31 December 2021 53,084 2,619 9,426 - - - 65,129

As at 31 December 2020  48,770 2,672 10,360 12,466        3,327 147,312   224,907

(a) This includes $15,694 in respect of depreciation related to assets on the disposal of a subsidiary and which are classified as discontinued
operations.
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18. Intangible Assets

Trademark and
Customer

Software Relationships Total
$ $ $

Cost -
On acquisition of subsidiary 1,493 399,025 400,518
Foreign exchange adjustment (74) (19,959) (20,033)

As at 31 December 2020 1,419 379,066 380,485
Disposals (1,419) (379,066) (380,485)

As at 31 December 2021 - - -

Amortization -
Charge for the year (Note 10) (546) (38,544)  (39,090)

As at 31 December 2020  (546)  (38,544) (39,090)
Charge for the year (Note 10) (175) (12,848) (13,023)
Relieved on disposal 721 51,392 52,113

As at 31 December 2021 - - -

Net Book Value -
As at 31 December 2021 - - -

As at 31 December 2020 873 340,522  341,395

(i) Computer software
 These intangible assets had finite useful lives and were amortised over five years. The carrying amounts were

written off on disposal of Dolla Financial Services Limited in March 2021.

(ii) Customer relationships
This represented a trademark and customer base acquired as part of the Dolla Financial Services Limited
acquisition on 31 March 2020. Both were determined to have a finite useful life and were amortised over 7
years. The carrying amounts were written off on disposal of Dolla Financial Services Limited in March 2021.
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19. Loans, Net of Provision for Credit Losses

2021 2020
$ $

Gross loans and advances - 2,138,413
Loan interest and other receivable - 82,017

- 2,220,430
Less: Expected Credit Loss (ECL) (Note 33(b) - (154,779)

Total - 2,065,651
Less: current portion - (1,852,233)

- 213,418

20. Investments

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
2021 2020

$ $

(a) Corporate bonds, repurchase agreements and CDs 3,778,766 6,411,671
Interest receivable 50,170 234,791

3,828,936 6,646,462
Less: ECL (Note 33(b) (894,844) (575,336)

2,934,092 6,071,126

(b) Promissory notes:
First Rock Capital Resource Limited (Note 20(d)(i)) 1,118,646 1,221,076
Medical Associates Limited (Note 20(d)(ii)) 194,810 417,540
Nationwide News Network (Note 20(d)(iii)) 129,873 139,180
Dolla Financial Services Limited (Note 20(d)(iv)) 649,366 -
First Rock Private Equity Limited (Note 20(d)(v)) 250,000 -
FEP Limited (Note 20(d)(vi)) 650,000 -

2,992,695 1,777,796
Interest receivable 69,092 113,307

3,061,787 1,891,103
Less: ECL (Note 33(b) (82,374) (17,152)

2,979,413 1,873,951

Total 5,913,505 7,945,077

Classified as:
Non-current 4,492,256 2,929,029
Current 1,421,249 5,016,048

5,913,505 7,945,077

(c) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss:
Quoted and unquoted equities: non-current 476,775 1,259,258
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20. Investments (continued)

(d) Promissory notes comprise:

(i) This represents the balances outstanding on loans to First Rock Capital Resource Limited with nominal
amounts totalling approximately $1,140,704 (2020: $1,312,606) at an interest rate of 8%. The maturity
dates of these loans range from July 2029 – September 2050 (2020: July 2021 – April 2050).

(ii) This represents the balance outstanding on a loan of JMD60,000,000 at an interest rate of 11% per
annum. The loan is payable in full in October 2023.

(iii) This represents the balance outstanding on a loan of JMD20,000,000 at an interest rate of 13% per
annum. The loan is payable in full in May 2023.

(iv) This represents the balance outstanding on loans with nominal amounts totalling JMD100,000,000 at
an interest rate of 12%. The maturity dates of these loans range from May 2023 – October 2023.

(v) This represents the balance outstanding on a loan of $350,000 at an interest rate of 8%. $100,000 was
converted to 1,000,000 units of ordinary equity at $0.10 per share on December 31, 2021 (Note 14).
The loan is payable in full in March 2024.

(vi) This represents the balance outstanding on a loan of $650,000 at an interest rate of 10%. The loan is
payable in full in June 2025.

21. Property Acquisition Deposits

(a) This represented a deposit on 5 units on a 1.72-acre parcel of land being developed as a mixed residential
apartment and townhouse community, situated at 21 Salisbury Avenue, Kingston 6, Saint Andrew.
Construction was completed in the second quarter of 2021.

(b) This represented a deposit on 5 units in a mixed-use development located along the seven-mile beach
corridor in Grand Cayman. Construction was completed in the first quarter of 2021.

(c) This represents a deposit on 5 units in a 19-story condominium building, currently being developed by Grupo
Inmobiliario del Parque, situated in Los Yoses, San Pedro, Costa Rica. Construction is underway and is
expected to be completed within the first quarter of 2022.

2021 2020
$ $

Medinah 21 (Note 21(a)) - 1,036,484
The Grove (Note 21(b))  - 562,040
Torres los Yoses II (Note 21(c)) 24,957 -

24,957 1,598,524
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22. Related Party Transactions

(a)  The statements of financial position include the following balances with related parties and companies:

2021
$

2020
$

Amounts due from related parties:

First Rock Realty (Company with common directorship) 20,129 -

First Rock Capital Resource Limited (Management company) 205,767 74,569

225,896 74,569

Promissory notes: (Note 20(b))

First Rock Capital Resource Limited 1,157,192 1,314,999

Medical Associates Ltd. (Company with common directorship) 188,960 420,399
Nationwide News Network (Company with common directorship
  up to November 2021) - 138,553

F.E.P. Limited (Company with common directorship) 615,097 -

First Rock Private Equity (Company with common directorship) 243,566 -

2,204,815 1,873,951

Amounts due to related parties:

First Rock Capital Resource Limited - (380,970)

Related party transactions:

Interest Income:

First Rock Capital Resource Limited 94,013 154,165

Medical Associates Limited 38,847 9,657

Nationwide News Network Ltd. 10,501 12,180

F.E.P. Limited 34,306 -

First Rock Private Equity 21,074 -

198,741 176,002

Expenses:

First Rock Capital Resource Limited:

Performance based fee 358,120 255,712

Management fees 677,949 622,652

1,036,069 878,364

First Rock Realty Limited:

Brokerage commission 49,413 -

49,413 -

(b) Key management compensation

2021 2020
$ $

Salaries and travelling benefits 67,495 200,402
Statutory contributions 3,739 12,522

71,234 212,924

Directors’ fees totalled $95,426 (2020: $36,000) for the period.
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23. Other Assets

2021
$

2020
$

Trade and other receivables:

Rent receivable 75,341 37,154

Prepaid expenses 111,545 129,013

Due from broker 172,141 129,002

Due from attorney 213,350 -

GCT recoverable 41,261 125,979

Transfer tax and stamp duty refund - 14,750

Refund on deposit for Shoppes at Rosehall 25,069 25,069

Insurance investment premium 63,769 -
Other receivables 28,201 29,958

730,677 490,925

24. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2021 2020
$ $

Cash at bank 646,484 1,568,702
Cash in hand 433 1,208

646,917 1,569,910

25. Share Capital

2021

No. of shares

2021

 $

2020

No. of shares

2020

$

Class A Ordinary shares (Note 25(a)):

Opening balance 286,025,326 27,738,654 166,122,068 15,472,346

Initial public offering - -  119,903,258 12,266,308

Closing balance 286,025,326  27,738,654  286,025,326 27,738,654

Class A Preference shares (Note 25(b)):

Opening balance 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -
Issue of shares to Management company

  (no par value) - - - -

Closing balance 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -

287,025,326 27,738,654 287,025,326 27,738,654

(a) Class A Ordinary shares are voting and participating shares of the company.  In February 2020, through an
initial public offering, the company issued an additional 119,903,250 of a combination of USD and JMD
ordinary shares. 81,650,250 USD shares were issued at an average share price of USD0.114 and
38,253,000 JMD shares were issued at an average price of JMD15.36. Net proceeds from this offering were
used to finance real estate development.



Page 64

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25. Share Capital (Continued)

(b) Class A Preference shares rank pari passu as between and among themselves and in priority to any shares
by the Company. Each Class A preference shareholder is entitled to a cumulative annual preference dividend
equivalent to Twenty- five per cent (25%) of the audited annual total comprehensive income of the Company
(calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards prevailing from time to time, and
expressed in US dollars) (“Total Income”) in each financial year in excess of the Annual Earnings Hurdle,
divided by The number of Class A Preference Shares in issue when the said cumulative annual preference
dividend is paid. The “Annual Earnings Hurdle” shall be the amount which results when the Hurdle Rate of
eight per cent (8%) is applied to the Total Income of the company.

Effective 1 October 2021, each Class A preference shareholder is entitled to a cumulative annual preference
dividend equivalent to twenty-five per cent (25%) of the consolidated audited annual total comprehensive
income of the company in each financial year, once the hurdle rate of eight and a half per cent (8½%) is
achieved.

Class A preference shareholders have voting rights in general meeting and have no economic rights or
entitlements apart from the cumulative dividends, save and except for a return of capital paid or credited to
be paid, as well as a right to share in any surplus on winding up on a pari passu basis with the capital paid
for the shares. No capital has been paid on the Class A preference shares.

26. Corporate Bond Payable

2021
$

2020
$

Medium term secured bond due 2026 (Note 26(a)) 4,545,561 -

Unamortised borrowing costs (Note 26(b)) (151,055) -

4,394,506 -

Interest payable 55,582 -

4,450,088 -

(a) This represents a corporate bond issued through Sygnus Capital in the amount of J$700,000,000 at an
interest rate of 7.5% per annum for 5 years maturing May 2026. The bond is secured by:

 First Legal Mortgage stamped to cover commercial property situated at Monaltrie in the parish of Saint
Andrew being the Lot numbered Seventeen, Block "F" now known as 21 Balmoral Avenue Kingston 5,
registered at: Volume: 1269 Folio:939 in the name of First Rock Capital Holdings Limited.

 First Legal Mortgage stamped to cover residential property situated at Retreat in the parish of Saint
Andrew now known as 5 Seaview Avenue, registered at: Volume: 368 Folio:69 in the name of First Rock
Capital Holdings Limited

 First Legal Mortgage stamped to cover residential property situated at Retreat in the parish of Saint
Andrew now known as 5 Seaview Avenue, registered at: Volume: 1027 Folio:229 in the name of First
Rock Capital Holdings Limited.

 Hypothecated repo in the name of JCSD Trustee Services c/o First Rock Capital Holdings Limited
representing the initial twelve-months interest.
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26. Corporate Bond Payable (Continued)

(b) Unamortised borrowing costs

2021 2020
$ $

Incurred for year 173,726 -
Amortised during the year (22,671) -

Closing balance 151,055 -

(c) Changes arising from financing activities:

2021 2020
$ $

New borrowings 4,371,835 -
Amortised borrowing costs 22,671 -
Change in interest payable 55,582 -

4,450,088 -

(d) Compliance with covenants

At 31 December 2021, the Group complied with the terms of the bond payable.

27. Long Term Loans

2021
$

2020
$

Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited (Note 27(a)) 1,313,280 3,721,875

Barita Investments Limited (Note 27(b)) - 1,068,207

Advanced Integrated Systems Limited (Note 27(c)) 1,500,045 -

CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Cayman) Limited (Note 27(d)) 1,585,013 -

Other (Note 27(e)) 928,613 -

5,326,951 4,790,082

Interest payable 4,405 9,970

5,331,356 4,800,052

Classified as:

Non-current 3,001,057 -

Current 2,330,299 4,800,052

5,331,356 4,800,052
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27. Long Term Loans

(a) This represents a demand loan from Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited (“SBJ”), for the purchase of property at
1, 1B & 3 Bamboo Avenue, Jamaica. Interest is charged at a rate of 6.75% per annum. The terms of the
promissory note indicate that the loan is payable on demand, which gives the lender the legal right to demand
that the loan is repaid at any time. The loan is therefore classified as current. The facility however allows for
a scheduled repayment to be made in July 2023. The loan is secured by the following:

 First Legal Mortgage stamped to cover US$1,875,000 over property (vacant land) situated at 1, 1B & 3
Bamboo Avenue, Mona, Kingston 6, St. Andrew registered at: Volume: 675 Folio:14, Volume: 983 Folio:
219 and Volume: 354 Folio: 69 in the name of First Rock Capital Holdings Limited.

 SBJ Hypothecated Certificate of Deposit in the name of First Rock Capital Holdings Limited representing
the initial 6-month Interest

(b) This represented a loan facility from Barita Investments Limited for the purpose of real estate development.
Interest was charged at a rate of 6.00% per annum. The loan was secured by Barita Investments Limited
investment note and repurchase agreement with a carrying values of $1,263,000 and $105,000 respectively.
In spite of its scheduled repayment date of February 2022, the loan was classified as current, consequent
on the breach of a loan covenant as discussed at Note (f) below.  The loan was repaid during the year.

(c) This represents a vendor mortgage from Advanced Integrated Systems Limited for the purchase of property
at 7 Oxford Terrace, Jamaica. Interest is charged at a rate of 7.5% per annum for 5 years maturing June
2026. The loan is secured by the following:

 First Legal Mortgage stamped to cover US$1,500,000 over property (commercial building) situated at Lot
8, 31 Old Hope Road Volume 1231 Folio 132 and Lot 9, 31 Old Hope Road Volume 1231 Folio 133 in the
name of First Rock Capital Holdings Limited.

(d) This represents a loan from CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Cayman) Limited, for the purchase of
property at the Grove, Grand Cayman. Interest is charged at a rate of 3 month Libor plus 2.5% per annum
with a floor of 3.5% for 5 years maturing November 2026. The loan is repayable in 54 blended monthly
principal and interest payments of $11,574. The loan is secured by the following:

 First Legal Mortgage stamped to cover US$1,619,000 over property (residential buildings) situated at
West Bay Beach North Grand Cayman, Block 11D, Parcel 105 H10, H11, H24, H27 & H29 in the name
of First Rock Capital Cayman Limited.

 Fixed and floating charge debenture granted by First Rock Capital Cayman Limited stamped for
US$1,619,000 over all other present and future real property and a first ranking floating charge over all
other present and future assets.

 Debt service reserve equivalent to 12 months debt service payment of $138,888. (Note 20(a)).

(e) This represents a private loan from an individual, for the purpose of development. Interest is charged at a
rate of 3% per annum, however the repayment of interest and principal will be put towards the purchase price
of a unit at Hambani Estates for which development is expected to be completed within the 3rd quarter of
2022.

(f) As at 31 December 2021, the Group is in compliance with all loan covenants. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group was in breach of its loan covenant to Barita Investments Limited relating to the Group’s minimum
debt service coverage ratio. The breach of this ratio was occasioned in part, by the classification of the
Group’s demand loan to Sagicor Bank Limited as current (see Note 27(a)) above.
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27. Long Term Loans (continued)

(g) Reconciliation of loans arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s loans arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Loans arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Non-cash
changes -

Financing Non-cash foreign
Opening cash flows - changes - exchange Closing
Balance loan received (net) interest Movements balance

$ $ $ $ $
2021
Long term loans 4,800,052 523,331 (5,565) 13,538 5,331,356

2020
Long term loans - 4,612,107 216,020 (28,075) 4,800,052

28. Deferred Tax (Assets) Liabilities

Deferred taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method.

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

2021 2020
$ $

At beginning of year 152,790 (6,563)
Charged to statement of comprehensive income (Note 12) (166,657) 59,597
Deferred tax on intangible assets on (disposal)/acquisition of Dolla (99,756) 99,756

At end of year (113,623) 152,790

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Unrealised
exchange

gains
$

Unrealised
gain on fair

 valuation
$

Intangible
assets

$

Interest
receivable

$
Total

$
Deferred tax liabilities:
At 1 January 2020 - - - - -
Charged to profit or loss 17,161 501,609 - 127,311 646,081
Deferred tax on intangible assets on
acquisition of Dolla - - 99,756 - 99,756
At 31 December 2020 17,161 501,609 99,756 127,311 745,837
Charged to profit or loss (17,161) 454,630 - (98,562) 338,907
Deferred tax on intangible assets on
disposal of Dolla - - (99,756) - (99,756)

At 31 December 2021 - 956,239 - 28,749 984,988
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29. Deferred Tax (Assets) Liabilities (Continued)

Unrealised

Accelerated Foreign

Tax Tax Exchange

Depreciation Losses loss Other Total

$ $ $ $ $

Deferred tax assets:

At 1 January 2020 - 6,563 - - 6,563

Credited to profit or loss 10,333 568,098 1,725 6,328 586,484

At 31 December 2020 10,333   574,661 1,725  6,328 593,047

Credited to profit or loss (10,333) 501,532 6,506 7,859 505,564

At 31 December 2021 - 1,076,193 8,231 14,187 1,098,611

The amounts shown in the statement of financial position include the following:

2021 2020
$ $

Deferred tax assets to be settled after more than twelve months 1,076,193 574,661

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than twelve months 956,239 501,609

29. Leases

Group as a lessee
The office buildings are rented for fixed periods ranging of 1 -3 years with an option to renew the contracts. The
lease payments are fixed and adjusted for inflation.

a)  Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

2021 2020
$  $

Right-of-use assets
Buildings (Note 17) - 147,312

Lease liability
Balance at 1 January 146,588 -
On acquisition of subsidiary - 182,717
Accretion of interest - 19,398
On disposal (146,588) -
Payment - (55,527)

Balance at 31 December - 146,588

Current - 65,009
Non-current - 81,579

- 146,588
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29. Leases (Continued)

b)  Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

2021 2020
$  $

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings 11,914 63,584

Interest expense - 19,398

Total expenses related to leases 11,914 82,982

The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was $55,527.

30. Other Liabilities

2021 2020
$ $

Trade payable (Note 30(a)) 714,608 54,639
Tenant deposits 47,845 21,542
Accrued expenses 113,056    63,406
Unallocated cash - 19,872
Statutory payable - 10,040
Credit card payable 2,106 4,148
Deposit on sale of units - 33,863
Withholding tax payable 15,711 -
Contractor’s levy payable 52,711 -
Deferred income 325,828 -
Dividends payable - 343,230
Other payables (Note 30(b)) 1,600,744 3,435

2,872,609 554,175

(a) This includes US$646,192 payable to a developer in relation to the construction of the Hambani Estates
luxury residential development in St. Andrew.

(b) This includes US$1,600,000 representing the fair value of land transferred by way of natural love and
affection for no consideration and which has been upheld as deferred income. As at the reporting date there
was no executed agreement governing the terms and conditions of the transfer between the vendor, Berlinc
Development Limited, and FCH Jamaica Assets Limited. (Note 15)
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31. Earnings per Stock Unit

Basic earnings per stock unit are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

2021 2020

Net profit attributable to shareholders ($) 2,995,684 2,659,089

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 286,025,326 268,369,563

Basic earnings per stock unit (USD per share) 0.01 0.01

The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares. The diluted earnings per stock unit are the same as the
basic earnings per stock unit.

32. Dividends

2021 2020
$ $

First interim dividend for 2020 at $0.0008 per ordinary share - gross - 228,820

Second interim dividend for 2020 at $0.0013 per ordinary share – gross - 371,833

Third interim dividend for 2020 at $0.0008 per ordinary share - gross -   228,820

Final dividend for 2020 at $0.0012 per ordinary share - gross - 343,230

First interim dividend for 2021 at $0.0006 per ordinary share – gross 171,615 -

Final interim dividend for 2021 at $0.0007 per ordinary share – gross 200,218 -

371,833 1,172,703

A subsidiary of the Group, which has non-controlling interest (NCI) also declared dividends during 2020.  The
dividends paid to the NCI amounted to $60,236 is shown as a declaration from the equity attributable to the NCI
and has also been included in the dividends paid, as part of the Group’s financing cash flows.

33. Financial Risk Management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the First Rock Capital Resource Company Limited, which identifies, evaluates
and manages financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating business units. The Board of
Directors sets guidelines for overall risk management including specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, and investing excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk
The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, political risk and economic risk. Market risk is
monitored by Management who carries out extensive research and monitors the price movement of financial
assets on the local and international markets.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk.

(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The group operates internationally and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Jamaican
dollar (JMD) and the Costa Rican Colón (CRC). Foreign exchange risk arises from transactions for
purchases and recognised assets and liabilities.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and
liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency positions. The Group further manages this
risk by maximizing foreign currency earnings and holding foreign currency balances.

Concentration of currency risk
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to the JMD as at 31 December. The Group’s
exposure to the CRC as at 31 December was not material.

2021

JMD Exposure

US$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 73,988
Financial assets at amortised cost 1,925,644
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 210,719
Due from related parties 6,847
Other assets 2,618
Total financial assets 2,219,816

Financial liabilities
Corporate bond 4,450,088
Other liabilities 53,441
Total financial liabilities 4,503,529
Net position (2,283,713)



Page 72

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

2020

JMD Exposure

US$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  78,472
Financial assets at amortised cost 2,234,695
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,009,258
Loans and advances net of provision for credit losses 2,065,651
Due from related parties 18,346
Total financial assets 5,406,422

Financial liabilities
Long term loan 1,078,177
Lease liability 67,286
Other liabilities 15,364
Total financial liabilities 1,160,827
Net position 4,245,595

Concentration of currency risk

Sensitivity analysis
The impact on the Group’s profit before taxation, arising from a weakening or strengthening of the USD
dollar in relation to the JMD are as follows:

(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate
instruments expose the Group to fair value interest risk. The Group’s interest rate risk policy requires it
to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.
The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-
bearing financial liabilities.

% Change in
Currency

Rate

Effect on
Profit

before Tax

% Change in
Currency

Rate

Effect on
Profit

before Tax

2021 2021 2020 2020
$ $

Currency:
JMD (USD Strengthen) 8% 182,697 6% (254,736)
JMD (USD Weaken) 2% (45,674) 2%          84,912
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
The following tables summarise the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts,
categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

2021

Within
1 year

1 to 5
Years

Over 5
Years

Non-
interest
bearing Total

$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2021:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 646,484 - - 433 646,917
Financial assets at amortised cost 2,312,593 3,210,349 1,248,519 (857,956) 5,913,505
Loans net of provision for credit losses -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - 476,775 476,775
Due from related parties - - - 225,896 225,896
Other assets - - - 577,871 577,871

Total financial assets 2,959,077 3,210,349 1,248,519 423,019 7,840,964

Financial liabilities
Corporate bond payable - 4,545,561 - (95,473) 4,450,088
Long term loan 2,241,893 3,085,058 - 4,405 5,331,356
Other liabilities - - - 2,759,553 2,759,553

Total financial liabilities 2,241,893 7,630,619 - 2,668,485 12,540,997

Total interest repricing gap 717,184 (4,420,270) 1,248,519 (2,245,466) (4,700,033)

Cumulative interest repricing gap 717,184 (3,703,086) (2,454,567) (4,700,033)
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
2020

Within
1 year

1 to 5
Years

Over 5
Years

Non-
interest
bearing Total

$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2020:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,568,702 - - 1,208 1,569,910
Financial assets at amortised cost 4,667,952 1,270,046 1,658,983 348,096 7,945,077
Loans net of provision for credit losses  1,770,216  213,418  -  82,017 2,065,651
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - 1,259,258 1,259,258
Due from related parties - - - 74,569 74,569
Other assets - - - 221,183 221,183

Total financial assets 8,006,870 1,483,464 1,658,983 1,986,331 13,135,648

Financial liabilities

Long term loan 4,790,082 - - 9,970 4,800,052

Lease liability - 119,787 26,801 - 146,588

Due to related parties - - - 380,970 380,970

Other liabilities - - - 468,858 468,858

Total financial liabilities 4,790,082 119,787 26,801 859,798 5,796,468

Total interest repricing gap 3,216,788    1,363,677 1,632,182    1,126,533   7,339,180

Cumulative interest repricing gap 3,216,788 4,580,465 6,212,647 7,339,180
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)   Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from investment securities, loan receivables and long term loans.
The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on net
income based on floating rate financial assets and floating rate liabilities.

Change in
Basis Points

Effect on
 Net Profit

Change in
Basis Points

Effect on
Net Profit

2021 2021
$

2020 2020
$

JMD +100 (15,850) +100   (21,364)

JMD -100 15,850 -100     21,364

(iii) Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer
or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
because of investments held by the Group classified as fair value through profit or loss. The Group
manages its price risk by trading these instruments when appropriate to reduce the impact of any
adverse price fluctuations.

The impact on total stockholders’ equity (before tax) of a 5% increase/decrease (2020: 10%
increase/decrease) in equity prices is an increase/decrease of $23,839 (2020: $125,926).

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on
hand), loans receivable, contractual cash flows of debt investments carried at amortised cost and deposits
with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that property rentals and services are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. Cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The Group
manages its credit risk by screening its customers, establishing credit limits, obtaining bankers’ guarantees
or collateral for loans where applicable, the rigorous follow-up of receivables and ensuring investments are
low-risk or are held with sound financial institutions. The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes
by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single counterparty or groups of related
counterparties and to industry segments.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Investments
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties
that have high credit quality. Accordingly, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet
its obligations.

Overall exposure to credit risk
The following table analyses the credit rating by internally developed and assessed investment ratings
of financial assets bearing credit risk. See Note 3(q).

2021

A to Aaa* B to Baa C to Caa Not rated Total

$ $ $ $ $

Investments at amortised cost - 5,083,666 827,198 - 5,910,864
Other assets - - - 577,871 577,871
Due from related parties - - - 225,896 225,896
Cash at bank 646,484 - - 433 646,917

646,484 5,083,666 827,198 804,200 7,361,548

2020

A to Aaa* B to Baa C to Caa Not rated Total

$ $ $ $ $

Loans receivables - 2,065,651 - - 2,065,651
Investments at amortised cost - 6,850,521 1,094,556 - 7,945,077
Due from related parties - - - 74,569 74,569
Other assets - - - 221,183 221,183
Cash at bank 1,568,702 - - 1,208 1,569,910

1,568,702 8,916,172 1,094,556 296,960 11,876,390

Credit quality of financial assets and ratings assigned

The credit quality of financial assets and the assigned ratings has been determined by reference to
external credit ratings, if available, or to a rating assigned by management’s expert using an approach
consistent with that used by global rating agencies. All of the ratings assigned above were based on
internal ratings.

Aaa
An obligation rated 'Aaa' has the highest rating. Obligations rated Aaa are judged by management to be
of the highest quality, minimal risk.

Aa
Obligations rated Aaa are judged to be of the high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Investments (continued)

A
An obligation rated 'A' is considered upper-medium-grade and are subject to low credit risk.

Baa
Obligations rated Baa are subject to moderate credit risk. They are considered medium-grade and as
such may possess speculative characteristics.

Ba
Obligations rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements and are subject to substantial credit risk.

B
Obligations rated Bare considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

Caa
Obligations rated Caa are judged to be of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.

Ca
Obligations rated Ca are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of
recovery in principal and interest.

C
Obligations rated C are the lowest-rated class of bonds and are typical-ly in default, with little prospect
for recovery of principal and interest.

Not Rated
This indicates that there is insufficient information on which to base a rating. These balances are current
and are monitored regularly for impairment. This classification mainly includes obligations due from
related parties, short-term securities and loans net of provisions for credit losses.

(ii) Loans and trade receivables
Loans receivable are balances which have been recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. Trade
receivables relate mainly to tenants of the Group’s investment properties. Receivables are monitored
and followed up on a regular basis and provisions made as deemed necessary based on an estimate of
amounts that would be irrecoverable, determined by taking into consideration past default experience,
current economic conditions and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired.

 Customer loans
 The Group uses three categories for loans which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision

is determined for each of those categories.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Loans and trade receivables (continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss model is as follows:

The Group does not require the customers to pledge collateral as security against the loan in all cases.
Over the term of the loans, the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECLs on
a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category
of customers and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are major banks with high credit
ratings.

(iv)     Due from related parties

The directors and management believe that the credit risks associated with this financial asset is
minimal. There is no significant increase in credit risk associated with related parties and therefore the
probability of default is considered insignificant.

Credit quality of financial assets

The following table sets out the staging of the company’s financial assets, exposed to credit risk, and shows
their maximum exposure to credit risk. The amounts shown in the tables reconcile to the carrying values as
shown in the financial statements. The tables below exclude other assets, which are in stage 1 and for which
there is no ECL. All of the items listed below were in stage 1 (12 month ECL) and loss allowances were
recorded only for the loans receivable and financial instruments classified at amortised cost. There were no
financial assets that were purchased credit impaired.

Financial instruments at amortised costs are considered to have low to moderate credit risk. Management
considers ‘low credit risk’ for listed bonds which have an investment grade credit rating with at least one
major rating agency. Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low risk of
default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

Category Definition of Category
Basis for recognition of
ECL

Performing � Loans for which there is no evidence of a
significant increase in credit risk since the
origination date.

� Loans that are due to mature within 12
months of the reporting date providing that
such loans are not in a state of default.

12 month expected losses.
Where the expected
lifetime of an asset is less
than 12 months, expected
losses are measured at its
expected lifetime (stage 1).

Underperforming

� Loans past due between 30 to 89 days
� Loans that experienced a significant increase

in credit risk even if the 30 days past due days
threshold is not met

Lifetime expected losses
(stage 2).

Non-Performing
(credit impaired)

� Loans that are past due 90 days and over
� Loans for which the maturity date has elapsed
� Loans that show evidence of impairment even

if the 90 days past due threshold is not met

Lifetime expected losses
(stage 3).

Write-off See Note 3(q) Asset is written off.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of financial assets (continued)

ECL Staging
2021

12-month
ECL

Stage 2 –
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 –
Lifetime ECL Total

$ $ $ $
As at 31 December
Financial instruments
- B to Baa 5,145,084 - - 5,145,084
- C to Caa 651,083 - 1,094,556 1,745,639

Cash at bank
- A 646,917 - - 646,917

Gross carrying amount 6,443,084 - 1,094,556 7,537,640
ECL (94,762) - (882,456) (977,218)

Gross carrying amount,
net of ECL 6,348,322 - 212,100 6,560,422

ECL Staging
2020

12-month
ECL

Stage 2 –
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 –
Lifetime ECL Total

$ $ $ $
As at 31 December
Financial instruments
- B to Baa 7,443,009 - - 7,443,009
- C to Caa - - 1,094,556 1,094,556

Loans receivable
- Not rated** 1,842,759 121,037 256,634 2,220,430

Cash at bank
- A 1,569,910 - - 1,569,910

Gross carrying amount 10,855,678 121,037 1,351,190 12,327,905
ECL (63,205) (1,893) (682,169) (747,267)

Gross carrying amount,

net of ECL 10,792,473 119,144     669,021 11,580,638

SICR was experienced for loans receivable based on increases in DPD for certain loans, as well as
an investment security going into default, based on missed interest payments and slippage of more
than four levels on the rating scale.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)   Credit risk (continued)
Loss allowances

The allowance for ECL is recognised in each reporting period and is impacted by a variety of factors, as
described below:
 Transfers between stages due to financial instruments experiencing significant increases (or

decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired during the period;
 Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases

for financial instruments de-recognised in the period;
 Impact on the measurement of ECL due to inputs used in the calculation including the effect of ‘step-

up’ (or ‘step down’) between 12-month and life-time ECL;
 Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; and
 Foreign exchange retranslations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other movements.

(i) Debt securities

Stage 1
12-month

Stage 2
Lifetime

Stage 3
Lifetime

31
December

2021

31
 December

 2020
ECL ECL ECL Total Total

$ $ $ $ $

Debt Securities – Amortised Cost
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 7,443,009 - 1,094,556 8,537,565 3,456,842
New financial assets originated or purchased 3,632,156 - - 3,632,156 9,732,937

Financial assets fully derecognised during the
period (5,059,937) - - (5,059,937)  (3,239,214)

Changes in principal and interest (219,061) - - (219,061) (1,413,000)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 5,796,167 - 1,094,556 6,890,723 8,537,565

Stage 1
12-month

Stage 2
Lifetime

Stage 3
Lifetime

31
 December

 2021

31
December

2020
ECL ECL ECL Total Total

$ $ $ $ $

Debt Securities – Amortised Cost
Loss Allowance as at 1 January 37,328 - 555,160 592,488 34,979

New financial assets originated or purchased 52,995 - - 52,995  15,185

Financial assets fully derecognised during the
period (9,737) - - (9,737) (13,015)

Changes to inputs used in ECL calculation 14,176 - 327,296 341,472  562,011

Foreign exchange adjustment - - - - (6,672)

Loss Allowance as at 31 December 94,762 - 882,456 977,218 592,488

The loss allowances for investments as at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as
follows:

2021 2020
$ $

Opening loss allowance at 1 January 592,488 34,979

Increase in ECL 384,730 557,509

Closing loss allowance 31 December 977,218 592,488
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Loss allowances (continued)

(ii) Loans

Stage 1
12-month

Stage 2
Lifetime

Stage 3
Lifetime

31
December

2021

31
December

2020
ECL ECL ECL     POCI Total Total

Loans – Amortised Cost $ $ $ $ $
$000

$
Gross carrying amount as at

1 January 1,859,574 104,222 11,467 245,167 2,220,430 -
New financial assets purchased - - - - - 268,274

New financial assets originated - - - - - 2,449,464
Financial assets fully derecognised

 during the period (1,859,574) (104,222) (11,467) (245,167) (2,220,430) (372,966)
Changes in principal and interest - - - - -      (135,800)

Foreign exchange adjustment - - - - - 11,458

Gross carrying amount as at
31 December - - - - -    2,220,430

Stage 1
12-month

Stage 2
Lifetime

Stage 3
Lifetime

31
 December

 2021

31
December

 2020

ECL ECL ECL POCI Total Total

$ $ $  $ $ $

Loans – Amortised Cost
Loss Allowance as at 1 January 25,877 1,893 3,324 123,685 154,779 -

New financial assets originated - - - - - 28,636

Financial assets fully derecognised
 during the period (25,877) (1,893) (3,324) (123,685) (154,779) (15,078)
Changes to inputs used in

ECL calculation
- - - - -       149,236

Foreign exchange adjustment - - - - -     (8,015)

Loss Allowance as at
31 December - - - - - 154,779

The loss allowances for loan receivables as at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:
  2021 2020

$ $

Opening loss allowance at 1 January 154,799 -

On acquisition of subsidiary - 10,426
(Decrease)/Increase in loan loss (154,779) 144,353
Included in discontinued operations on disposal of subsidiary 154,779 -

Closing loss allowance 31 December - 154,779



Page 82

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Loss allowances (continued)

(ii) Loans

The gross carrying amount of loan receivables, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

2021 2020

$ $

Performing - 1,829,201

Underperforming - 134,594

Non-Performing (credit impaired) - 256,635

Total gross loan receivables -     2,220,430

Less: Loan loss allowance - (154,779)

Loan receivables net of expected credit losses - 2,065,651

Collateral
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of different types of collateral.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
Loans – Cash and other near cash securities, mortgages over commercial and residential properties, charges
over equipment and motor vehicles.  Fair value of properties held as collateral is mainly based on obtained
valuations from third parties and management’s assessment of comparative sales, where valuations are not
available.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral held.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of collateral held stands at $7,792 (2020 – $27,454).

Repossessed collateral
The Group can obtain assets by taking possession of collateral held as security. Repossessed properties
are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Loss allowances

Economic variable assumptions for exposure

Since 2020, the global financial markets have experienced and continue to experience significant volatility
resulting from the spread of a novel coronavirus known as COVID-19.  The outbreak of COVID-19 has
resulted in travel and border restrictions, quarantines, supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand
and general market uncertainty.  The extent and duration of the impact of COVID-19 on global and local
economies, financial markets, and sectors and specific industries remains uncertain and has created
significant challenges to reporting entities in estimating forward looking adjusted ECL.

The Group has adopted the scorecard approach for forward looking adjustments which is based on
qualitative assessment. Macroeconomic variables that affect the performance of the portfolio the most is
chosen and its significance (weighting) assigned. Each macroeconomic variable is then given a state,
depending on management expectation. Each state is assigned a corresponding multiplier which indicates
the impact of the state on the portfolio. The multipliers determine the range of ECL fluctuation. If the range
is narrow, it means that the portfolio is less prone to macro-economic conditions. If the range is wide, the
portfolio is easier affected by the indicators identified. This exercise is performed for all scenarios which
represent different macroeconomic outlook. The set of variables remain the same however the states may
vary depending on each specific scenario. The three scenarios are weighted based on the range of
macroeconomic scenarios they cover. The score and probability of impact of each scenario are multiplied,
and the results are summed for all three scenarios.

The assumptions and the related macroeconomic variables used by the Group for its investment securities
are as follows:

 Inflation – Given a weight of 20% (2020: 20%)

 Interest rates – Given a weight of 40% (2020: 40%)

 Gross Domestic Product (GDP) – Given a weight of 30% (2020: 30%)

 Unemployment – Given a weight of 10% (2020: 10%)

The scenarios used and the weight assigned are as follows:

 Base case – 50% (2020: 50%)

 Upside – 30% (2020: 20%)

 Downside – 20% (2020: 30%)

The multipliers used for the various outlook forecasts are as follows:

 Positive – Multiplier of -0.5 (2020: 0.6)

 Stable – Multiplier of Nil (2020: 1.08)

 Negative – Multiplier of 1.50 (2020: 1.30)
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Loss allowances (continued)

Economic variable assumptions for exposure (continued)

The assumptions and the related macroeconomic variables used by the Group for its loans net of provisions
for credit losses are as follows:

 Inflation – Given a weight of 20% (2020: 20%)

 Interest rates – Given a weight of 40% (2020: 25%)

 Gross Domestic Product (GDP) – Given a weight of 30% (2020: 20%)

 Unemployment – Given a weight of 10% (2020: 35%)

The scenarios used and the weight assigned are as follows:

 Base case – 50% (2020: 50%)

 Upside – 30% (2020: 20%)

 Downside – 20% (2020: 30%)

The multipliers used for the various outlook forecasts are as follows:

 Positive – Multiplier of 0.6 (2020: 0.6)

 Stable – Multiplier of 1.1 (2020: 1.1)

 Negative – Multiplier of 1.3 (2020: 1.6)

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities
and the ability to close out market positions.

Liquidity risk management process
The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by the Asset and
Risk Management Committee, includes:

 Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a weekly basis. This incorporates an assessment of
expected cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral which could be used to secure funding
if required;

 Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as protection
against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow;

 Maintaining lines of credit;
 Optimizing cash returns on investments; and
 Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)   Liquidity risk (continued)
The tables below present the contractual maturities of undiscounted cash flows (both interest and principal
cash flows) of the Group’s assets and liabilities based on the remaining period to maturity.

Within
1 year

1 to 5
Years

Over
5 Years

No Specific
Maturity Total

$ $ $ $ $

At 31 December 2021:

Cash and cash equivalents 646,917 - - - 646,917
Financial assets at amortised cost 2,555,512 4,403,287 2,004,750 - 8,963,549
Financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss - - - 476,775 476,775
Due from related parties 225,896 - - - 225,896
Other assets 577,871 - - - 577,871

Total financial assets 4,006,196 4,403,287 2,004,750 476,775 10,891,008

Financial liabilities

Long term loan 2,609,787 3,544,707 - - 6,154,494

Corporate bond payable 340,917 5,710,361 - - 6,051,278

Other liabilities 2,759,553 - - - 2,759,553

Total financial liabilities 5,710,257 9,255,068 - - 14,965,325

Net financial position (1,704,061) (4,851,781) 2,004,750 476,775 (4,074,317)

Maturity gap (1,704,061) (6,555,842) (4,551,092) (4,074,317)
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Within
1 year

1 to 5
Years

Over 5
Years

No Specific
Maturity Total

$ $ $ $ $

At 31 December 2020:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,569,910  -  - -  1,569,910

Financial assets at amortised cost 9,523,632  2,962,077  2,110,037 -  14,595,746
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss - - - 1,259,258 1,259,258

Due from related parties - - - 74,569 74,569
Loans net of provision for credit

losses 2,426,259  231,037 -  2,657,296

Other assets  - -  - 221,183 221,183

Total financial assets 13,519,801   3,193,114    2,110,037   1,555,010    20,377,962

Financial liabilities

Long term loans 4,800,052  -  - -  4,800,052

Due to related parties - - - 380,970 380,970

Lease liability 65,009  159,733  3,136 -  227,878

Other liabilities  -  -  - 468,858 468,858

Total financial liabilities  4,865,061  159,733  3,136 849,828  5,877,758

Net financial position 8,654,740  3,033,381   2,106,901 705,182 14,500,204

Maturity gap 8,654,740 11,688,121 13,795,022 14,500,204

(d) Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to provide superior returns for stockholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, while maintaining a conservative capital structure. The Board of Directors monitors
the return on equity, which the group defines as net profit attributable to equity holders divided by total
stockholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors and approves the level of dividends to ordinary
stockholders.

The consolidated statement of changes in equity depicts the Group’s capital and changes therein. There
were no changes to the group’s approach to capital management during the year.

The company and its subsidiaries have no externally imposed capital requirements. The Group is subject to
certain loan covenant requirements, as discussed in Note 26 and Note 27.
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34. Fair Value Estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.

The following tables provide an analysis of financial instruments held as at the statement of financial position
date that, subsequent to initial recognition, are measured at fair value. The financial instruments are grouped into
levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable, as follows:

● Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical instruments;

● Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the instrument, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);
and

● Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
instrument that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The Group’s equity instruments as at the end of the reporting period were classified as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$ $ $ $
 As at 31 December 2021

Quoted equities 226,775 - - 226,775
Unquoted equites - - 250,000 250,000

226,775 - 250,000 476,775

As at 31 December 2020
Quoted equities   1,009,258            -                 -  1,009,258
Unquoted equites - - 250,000     250,000

  1,009,258            -      250,000  1,259,258

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the date of
the statement of financial position. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit.

The following table shows the movement of investment securities measured at level 3 during the financial year.

2021
$

2020
$

Balance, 1 January 250,000 -

Acquisition - 250,000

Balance, 31 December 250,000 250,000



Page 88

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

35. Business Combination

(i) Summary of acquisition

On 31 March 2020, First Rock Capital Holdings Limited acquired 75% of the issued share capital of Dolla
Financial Services Limited.

 Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill were as follows:

$
Purchase consideration:
Cash paid           500,000
Ordinary shares issued      -

Total purchase consideration 500,000

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition were as follows:

$

Cash and cash equivalents   396,856

Loan receivables 1,830,808

Other receivables 44,072

Intangible assets (acquired arising on acquisition of Dolla) 400,518

Property, plant and equipment 120,946

Payables and accruals (435,917)

Deferred tax liability (99,756)

Lease liability (78,620)

Loans payable (257,146)

Tax payable (60,141)

Preference shares (968,496)

Net identifiable assets acquired 893,124

Less: non-controlling interests (167,606)

Net assets acquired 725,518

Acquired receivables
The fair value of acquired loan receivables is $1,731,999.

$
Total purchase consideration         500,000
Net assets acquired (725,518)

Negative goodwill (225,518)
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35. Business Combination (Continued)

(i) Summary of acquisition (continued)

As at the acquisition date, negative goodwill of $225,518 has been recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income given that the amounts of the identifiable net assets acquired exceeded the sum of
the value of consideration transferred. The bargain purchase represents an economic gain, which should be
immediately recognized by the acquirer in earnings.

Accounting policy choice for non-controlling interests
The Group recognises non-controlling interests in an acquired entity either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. This decision is made
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interests in Dolla Financial Services Limited,
the Group elected to recognise the non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net
identifiable assets. See note 2© for the group’s accounting policies for business combinations.

Revenue and profit contribution
The acquired business contributed revenues of $667,471 and net loss of $217,808 to the Group for the period
from 1 April to 31 December 2020. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2020, using management’s
internal financial statements, the Group’s interest income and profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would have been $2,245,083 and $2,895,005 respectively.

(ii) Purchase consideration – cash outflow

2020

$

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired

Cash consideration    500,000

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired    (396,856)

Net outflow of cash – investing activities  103,144

Acquisition-related costs
Acquisition-related costs of $34,108 that were not directly attributable to the issue of shares are included in
administrative expenses in the statement of profit or loss and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash
flows.

 (iii) The Group disposed of its holding in Dolla Financial Services Limited on 31 March 2021(see Note 13).
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36. Interest in Other Entities

(a) Non-controlling interests (NCI)
Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that
are material to the group. The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

Dolla Financial Services
Limited

2021 2020

Summarised Balance Sheet $ $

Current assets -  1,927,486

Current liabilities - 149,596

Net current assets - 1,777,890

Non-current assets - 747,965

Non-current liabilities -  2,158,124

Non-current net liability - 1,410,159

Net Assets - 367,731

Accumulated NCI -           48,469

Dolla Financial Services
Limited

2021 2020

$ $

    Summarised Statement of comprehensive income

Revenue 363,715 667,471

Profit /(Loss) for the period 115,154 (217,808)

Total comprehensive income 115,154 (217,808)

Profit/(Loss) allocated to NCI 28,788     (54,452)

Dividends paid to NCI - (60,326)

Summarised cash flows

Cash Flows from operating activities 190,533 (4,053,912)
Cash Flows from investing activities (207,286) -
Cash Flows from financing activities (43,986) 2,158,124

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (60,738) (1,895,788)

On 31 March 2020, the Group acquired 75% of the issued shares of Dolla Financial Services Limited for
$500,000. The Group recognised non-controlling interests of $167,606. The Group disposed of its holding in
Dolla Financial Services Limited on 31 March 2021(see Note 13).
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37. COVID-19 Update

The COVID-19 pandemic has continued throughout 2021, with a significant number of cases. Measures taken
by various governments to contain the virus have affected economic activity. The Group has taken a number of
measures to monitor and mitigate the effects of COVID-19, such as safety and health measures for its people
and securing the supply of materials that are essential to its operational process.

 At this stage, the impact on operations and results has not been significant and based on experience to date the
Group expect this to remain the case. As the Group operates in the regional real estate market, the asset prices
appear to be stable, demand continuing to be strong, and the Group expects this to continue. The Group will
continue to follow the various government policies and advice and, in parallel, do its utmost to continue operations
in the best and safest way possible without jeopardising the health of its team.

 The Group has maintained a healthy liquidity position evidenced by the cash and cash equivalents balance as
at the year end. This has been a key strategic objective, to withstand any adverse shocks to investments and to
capitalize on any opportunities which may present themselves.

38. Subsequent Events

On 23 February 2022, the company approved an open market share buy back programme of its ordinary shares
not to exceed 10% of capital.


